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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal is about a device sometimes used by an alternative
physician as part of ‘his procedure for assessing patients with possible
allergies. Although a medical commission panel did not find that the
physician had deceived or injured anyone, that he had écted in bad faith, or
that the device was unsafe, it did rule that using it vﬁth a patient was
“unprofessional conduct” under RCW 18.130.180(4) and (16). The device,
based on Asian and homeopathic medical theorigs, was, the panel asserted,
“inefﬁcacious."’ Using it was, asserfedly, negligence, and charging for the
tfeatment to which it was related conétituted “promotion for personal gain”
of an “inefficacious” device. The panel suspendéd the physician’s liceﬁSe;
staj)ed the suspension on condition tha’z' he refrain from using fhe device, pay
the Conimissioh a $5,000 fine, and submit to regular practice reviews and
reports.to fhé Commission.

.Petitioner contends that the Commission, believing but unable to
vpfovve,' that the device could not work, lawlessly disregarded evidehtié_lfy
nbi'ms, procedural safeguards and the language of the relevant ‘statu‘tory
scheme in érder to suppress its uée. The evidence and the ﬁndian Wére not
only insufﬁéiént, they were grossly insufficient and it is difﬁcuit nbt fo
gbnélude that the panel’s decision was a cyﬁical manipulation of eviden.ce,

‘reasoning and statutory language toreach aresult that could notbe defended



even by conventional medicine’s professionalv and scientific standards, let
alone by those the law insists upon. The decision poses a severe threat to
alternative medicine generally, because if the “method” of prosecuting and
deciding this case were upheld it could be used by any panel of conventional
practitioners to suppress any alternatiye approach that has not been expressly
identified and protected by the legislature. It would effectively allowA the |
Commission to‘ make its own law in cases involving alternative physicians
‘and disregard the legislative policy favoring choice and patient freedom in
those areas where conventional medicine has failed to meet patient needs.
Thus, it is imperative that this Court not only overturn the decision, but that
it do so in language that notifies the Commission that it will not tolerate an
- ageney’ s playing fast and loose With erocedural due process; no matter how
truly the ageney believes that the ends justify the means.
ASSIGNMENTS Of‘ ERROR

| The Commission panel erred in entering the following findings of
faet, because a reasonable fact-finder could not have found thai 'they were
supporteci by clear and convincing evidence (or even by a preponderanee)
anel, as to rnény of them, they had not been pleaded as requifeci by
Department of Health (“DOH”) regulatione, the Administrative Procedure
Act (34.‘05 RCW) and due process:

1.9 1.7, first sentence.



2.9 1..12 (to the extent that it finds that the device speeds up patié’nt
visits and implies use with all patients);

3.9 1.13 (fourth seﬁtence — that he described only the symptoms he
felt on the day of the inﬁial visit);

4.9 1.15 (if it implies that there was not a specific finding of an egg
allergy in the laboratory report); |

5.9 1.16 (last sentence - that he couid cure the allergy);

6.991.17,1.18,1.19, 1.20, 1.21, 1.22, 1.23 (to the extent an allergy .
other than hay fever is implied); |

7. 9 1.24 (first sentence, 'to the extent it finds treatment actualiy
occurr_ed at second visit); |

8. 99 1.25, 1;26, 1.27,1.28,1.29

The Commiséion banel erred in entering:

9. (a} the conclusion of law that expert testimony was not necessary
to support its findings of facts supporting negligence;

10. (b) 9 2.3, 2.6, 2.7'

11.The panel erred in suspending Petitioner, ordering the mbnitoring

‘of his records and pi'actice, and ﬁning'him (ﬂﬂ3.1~3.12).

12. The ‘Superior Couft erred in entering its Order of ,

upholding the Commission’s Final Order.
ISSUES PRESENTED
(WITH RELATED ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR)



1. Could a reasonablé person find by clear and convincing evidence;
and was it legal error to conclude, that a device was “inefficacious,” because
on one occasion its usé had allegedly led to an incorrect allergy diagnosis in
one patient and there was no expert testimoﬁy; cliniqal or case studies, or
other empirical, clinical‘ or scientific documen‘;ation relating to the device’s
use which even suggested that the device was not effective? (Assignment
Nos. 3-10, 'especially, 991.23, 1.25: also, in part, de novo)

2. Could é re_asonabl¢ person have found by clear aﬁd convincing
evidence or legally conclude that the good faith use by an alternative
physicianofa noninvasive, harmless device as one-ofa numbef of techniques
émployed in éssessing a batienf for food allergies was negligence creating an
unreasonable risk of harm solely because the panel found the device had
_ inldi-(‘:ated the patient had an allergy to eggs When, according to the lpanel, he
did not? (Nos. 3-10, especially 7 1.20, 1.23, 1.25, 1.28, 1.29: also, de novo)

3. Could a reasonable persoh find by clear and convincing evidence
that a test had incorrectly found a patient to have an allergy to eggs when the
patient had been‘found to have such an allergy by é conventional blood test;
there wés no expert testimony or docuimentation of testing showing that the
pa,tieﬁt did not have the allergy; there was no evidence that thé patient had

ever been tested for fodd allergies or had ever been told by a health care



practitioner ér anyone else that he did not have an allergy to eggs; there was
no evidence that the test had been shown by scientific study or empirical
experience to be inefficacious generally; and the only evidence offefed in
support of a ﬁﬁding that the test was incorrect was that (A) the patient had
not been told by anyone else that he had a food allergy; (B) the patient had
been diagnosed with and treated for allergies to dust and pollens twenty to
twenty-five years earlier; and (C) the patient did not know of any reaction he
had to eggs, although he also did not know the cause of the symptoms he
reported to thé physician? (Nos. 3,4, 6,8, 9, ésp. q91.23,1.25, 1.28, 1.29)
4. Did DOH! fail to provide necessary notice of faéts central fo the
- ultimate findings and conclusions in its Order? (Nos. 5, 6, 8, esp. 191.16,
1.18,1.19,1.20,1.22, 1.23,1.25,1.27-1.29: de noizo)
| 5. Is the use of a device used in assessing allergies treated By
acﬁpressure and based on Asian and liomeqpathic medicine part of
- “nontraditional treatment” undef RCW 18.130.180(4)? (No. 8, 1]1.28: de
novo) | |
 6.Cana physician’s use of an assessment device for allergies, even
though he does not advertise or commercially market it nor charge patients

for using it, and its use does not affect the charge for allergy treatments,

The prosecutorial wing of the Commission will be referred as “DOH.”
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constitute “promotion” of the device “for persorial gain” under RCW
18.130.180(16), because he elicourages patients to be treated for allergies
using his acupressure techniques? (Nos. 2, 7, 8, esp. ]1.12, 1.24, 1.26: de
novo)

7-. Under RCW 18.130.180(4)’s declaration that nontraditional
treatments are not unprofessional in the absence of harm or an unreasonable
risk of harrri, can a practitioner be held to ]fiave Violated.RCW 18.130.180(16)

. without evidenée of such harm or risk/ (Nos. 8, 10, esp. 71.26, 1.29,2.3, 2.6,
2.7: de novo) |

8. Must an appellate court defer to ihc findings of an administrative '
panel and C(include that there is clear and convincing evidence of the truth of |
his account because the panel finds a witness credible as to certain testimony
when, however much the witness may believe what lie is saying, the peitient
admits to memory problems, gave demonstrative evidence of memory
failures, and the documentary evidence in the case contradicted his memory?
(Assignmént Nos. 3-10: de novo)

9. In iight of the findings of good faith, and the absénce of harm,
were the sanctions ordered an abuse of discretion? (N 0. 11, 993. 1-3.12)

10. Did the Superior Ci>urt err? (All assignments of_eirbr: substailtial

evidence of high probability; de novo, abuse of discretion)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
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FACTS

1. Dr. Ames’s Alternative Practice and
Alternative Assessment Tools

Petitioner Geoffrey S. Ames, M.D., an alternative physician, board
certified in holistic medicine, practices in Richland, Washington. CR 1854;
App. 3, 91.1.2 He specializes in chronic fatigue states and allergies, which
are amon:g the causes of fatigue. CR ?;179, 3679, 3113;e.g, DOHExX. 2, pp.
10-13 (CR 1941-1944). One of the allergy modalities he uses is called

“NAET,” an acupressure treatment reported to be effective by many other
alternative practitionérs. CR 2158, 2695-2700, 2164, 2970-2972; 3042.
There is no definitive food.allergy test. CR 2973-2975; see also CR 2983-
2984, 3037—‘3038:, 3044-3045, 3047-3049. Thus, Dr.-Ames cohsiders many. -
sources of information, including, most importantly, a detailed patient
history, a physical examinatioﬁ, blood work, and hair anaiysis. CR 3079,
308(.),' 3085, 3177; CR 2151, 2171. In addition, he ﬁay use a muscle test
empioyed by NAETl practitioners, in which the strength“of an arm mﬁscle in
tile pfesence of a possible allergen is assessed. CR 2170; see. geherally CR
2976~2977, 3051. If the suspected allergen appears to weaken fhé arﬁq; tliat
is one indication for treatment — i.e., non-invasive mild taps to acupuncture

" points on the back. CR 2968, 2970, 2151, 2153, 2158. And the acupressure

Citation to the record in the Commission proceedings — i.e., the “Certified Record on
Review” — will be referred to as “CR.” Citations to the Superior Court record as “CP.”
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in turn is itself used as a noninvasive assessment resource, in a tentative
process of trial and error. CR 2152, 2176. If symptoms are not cleared up
after the treatment, that suggests that the person did not have the suspected
allergy. CR 2151-2152, 2175.

Often patients strongly suspect an allergen and report it to the
physician. CR 2151. But often they have no idea: the actual cause of their
symptoms, which' may be any one of ﬁundreds or thousands of substances.
CR 3070. To reduce the time needed to find such an allergen, NAET employs
“a device based on both acupuncture and homeopathic théories of human
health and functioning. CR 2165, 3061. This “ galvénic skin resbonse “
(“GSR”) device emits by a signal generator the homeopathic electromagnetic -
éignatures for huncﬁeds or thousands of substances, thereby allowing many
more suspects to be brought quickly in contact with a patient. CR 2155-
2156, 3069, 3178. The conventional use for GSR devices is biofeedbéck or |
lie detection and the FDA has cleared them to be marketed for those
. purpoées. CR 2104, 2165, 2318, 2854,.2899, 3000; CR 1919-1920. ' Intheir
conventioﬁal, and one unconventional, use, they measure the coﬁductivity
| ‘Between poiﬁts on thé skin when a tiny current is run between them. CR
2295,2318. As DOH’s biofeedback expert testified repeatedly, such devices |
are completely safe. CR 2293, 2296, 2349; see also CR 2879-2881, 3000.

When practitioners use these devices — usually with additional

8



software — for purposes which cannot be stated on the labeling and for which
the manufacturer may not promote them, this does not violate the Food, Drug

and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”). Buckman Company v. Plaintiff Legal

Committee, 531 U.S. 341, 350, 121 S.Ct. 1012, 1019 (2001) (recognizing
importance and Widespreéd conventional use of devices and drugs “off
label”). Nor does thé fact that a drug, treatment or device has not been
cleared for a particular use mean that it is either unsafe or inefficacious — only
that it has .not yet beén cleared or approved by the FDA. CR 2412-2414
~ (DOH FDA expert: many déﬁ/ices may be safe and efficacious but not FDA
approved, beéause of expense c'>r time needed to satisfy FDA requirements).
.. The devices are often used for electrodermal screening (‘EDS”) while
NAET uses them té generate the homeopathic signals for muscle testing. CR
2875-2876. After researching them with NAET’s founder, other physicians,
and Veildors,' Dr. Afnés purchaséd one from a Utah company. CR2157,283 9-
2842. Called the LISTEN, it had Béen cleared by thé FDA under thé name
“Digi‘tal. Conductance Meter” (“DCM”) on the condition that the label state
as its “intended use,” galvanic skin response measurement, biofeedback ‘and
rmiscle relaxétion. CR2843,1919-1920. The clearan(;e covered the deyice’s

signal generator. CR 2873.
In abéut fifty percent of suspected allergy cases, Dr. Ames used the

LISTEN for muscle testing. It was a preliminary, minor data source in the

9



comﬁrehensi{/e work-up for nén-speciﬁé fatigue, distress and pain. CR 2084,
2100, 2151-2152, 3070, 3142, 3181. He did ﬁot charge for using the
LISTEN; acupressure paﬁents were charged the same whether or not the
LISTEN was employed;and Dr. Ames did not otherwise attempt to recoup the
costs associated with the device. CR 2162, 3119, 2162. |

2. "~ Patient One’s Two Visits and Concern About
Dr. Ames’s Alternative Medical Views

Paltient One (also “P1") first saw Dr. Ames on June 6, 2001. CR
. 2188, 1933). Complaining of frequently suffering from sevére fatigue and
sluggishness, even éfter sleep, CR 1945, he also reported frequent, severe
weakness or tiredness in joints and muscles; infrequenf, but severe joint and
musqle pain and acheg; and infrequent but severe mood sWings. Ibid.

P 1 was an industrial hygienist at .WhO had worked with conventional
physicians throughout his career. CR 2186,2189,2197. He was taken aback
by Dr; Ames’s concern over mercury de ntal fillings, his criticisms of
mainstream medicine and the American Medical Association, and what P1
felt was an obsession with alternative medicine. CR 2191 ,2195,2227-2228.
He dismissed Dr. Ames’s concern with symptoms like fatigue, lethargy,i and
apathy, because other physicians_ had shown no interest in them. CR 2233.
But P1 did‘ submit samples for food allergy blood btesting, an\d urine

and hair testing, and returned for a second visit on July 10, 2001. CR 1932,

2170-2171,2191,2192,2248,2197. Most of this visit was spent discussing

10



the extensive laboratory results, Dr. Ames’s concerns about metal poisoning
from lead and mercury, and the advisability of chelation treatment. /bid; CR
2197-2201. Dr. Ames noted that the RAST, a standard blood test, showed
severai food allergies, including egg and mustard. CR 2170-2171,2203-2204,
2207.P2 also re;alls adiscussion of NAET, muscle testing with the LISTEN,
energy and meridians, and not understanding much of it. CR 2207; :

The testimony conflicted on what happenéd next. Dr. Ames testified
that after describing NAET, the LISTEN and muscle testing, and the results
his patients reported, CR 3 091-3098, he then demonstrated the muscle-testing
and acupressure by putting P1 through a simulation of the entire process. CR
3096-3097. Dr. Ames testiﬁéd that his protocol with patients who might
elect NAET for allergies V\;as to begin a work-up at the first visit; discuss lab
résults, _NAET and muscle testing at the second visit; énd actually use the
LISTEN, if he was going to use it, at the third visit. CR 3091-3092. Patient
One, however, testified that he thought that Dr. Ames was doing actual
muscle-tésting using the LISTEN and actually did treat him with acupressure
for his egg allergy, diagnosed, however, not with the muscle testing but the
RAST blood testing. CR 2207-22_09, 2220,2223. He testified that Dr. Ames
told him that, as long he did not eat eggs for a day or two after the trea‘?ment
the éllergy would be gone. Jbid. Dr Ames agreed that most of this is what he

did say and do, except that he was describing and demonstrating the
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experience of other patients and what might happen with P1 if he elected to
have NAET treatments. E.g., CR 3098-3099. The panel found actual muscle
testing with the LISTEN had occurred and that P1 had been treated for, and
fold he had been cured of, an egg allergy. CR 1859-1861; App. 3, {1.17-

1.20, 1.22. Because courts usually defer to such findings, the text of this brief

accepts them, arguendo, while assigning error for the reasons in the margin.*

Some weeks after P1’s second visit, he contacted the Commission.
Hé did ndt intend to make a coﬁqplaint, or think that he héd Eeen hurt in any
way, by Dr. Ames, by the LISTEN, the muscle-testing or the acupreséure. CR
2227, 2228. He did not think Dr. Ames was trying té fool or mislead him. CR
2248. His emphasis was not primarily with the LISTEN, But with Dr. Ames’s
views on ‘mercury, lead poisohing and chelation. CR 2221. But he Wrdte
~ because he was disturbed by what he considered Dr. Ames’s obsession with

élternative modalities. CR 2228-2229. DOH then used his report to move

Patient One’s demeanor could only establish that he believed his account, not that his’
memory of the events was correct. His account could not be and was not established by
clear and convincing evidence, because, inter alia, there is nothing in his medical records
indicating that he was treated for the allergy (no chart note and no informed consent form

~see DOH Ex. 2; CR 1932-1982) and DOH introduced no evidence that he was billed for .

such a treatment. In addition, P1 himself admitted to memory problems; demonstrated his
faulty memory in his testimony; and had many conditions associated with faulty memory,
which were uncontradicted and undisputed. For example, he testified that the LISTEN
had dials when it did not and, at points, that it did not involve a computer or a keyboard,
‘when it did. He admitted that his testimony that Dr. Ames had him hold the LISTEN’s
brass rod when it was covered with paper and not being used made no sense (as one panel
member brought out in questioning him). See CR 2209-2210, 2217, 2225-2227, 2246-
2247, 2249, 2270, 2271-2272, 3102-3107. In addition, P1's focus when he saw Dr. Ames
was not on the LISTEN and he testified to not understanding what Dr. Ames was saying

about it, all of which would account for a spotty, unreliable memory about it. Seeinfra.
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only against the LISTEN. CR 3.
PROCEEDINGS
This case was initiateci by a Statement of Charges (“Statement”)
alleging that Dr. Ames had tested P1 for a food allergy using the LISTEN. ;
CR 3; App. 1. The LISTEN, it was alleged, had not been approved, exémpted
or cleared by the FDA, or, alternatively, if it had been cleared under another
name, it had been used in a way not authorized by the FDA‘. Id at 3-4. Dr.
Ames’s receipt and use of the LISTEN was eillegéd to violate the FD CA and
the state food and drug act and therefore io violate RCW 18.130.180(7)
(uriprofessional to violéte statute regulating the profession of medicine).
Dr. Ames challenged DOH’ ] gooci faith and initiated discovery of the

FDA élaim. CR 27-28, 46.* In response, DOH issued an Amended

Since the LISTEN had been cleared by the FDA under the DCM name, an.di
“off-label” uses are not illegal, minimal investigation would have disclosed that
Dr. Ames had done nothing illegal (indeed, the panel ultimately so found). Thus,
the only reasonable inference was that the charges were brought in bad faith —
i.e., to use the expense and threat of a disciplinary proceeding against Dr. Ames
to force him to cease using an alternative health care device which, however
much DOH believed it to be ineffective, could not be proven to be either harmful
(the FDA would not have cleared a device that was harmful) or ineffective. The
animosity of state medical boards toward this device, especially as employed as
an EDS device, was well known. See, inter alia, Painter v. Abels, 998 P.2d 931,
935, 939 (Wyo. 2000) where the Wyoming Supreme Court rebuffed an attempt
by the Wyoming medical board, which also offered no evidence that the device
was either harmful or ineffective, to stop a Wyoming physician from using an
EDS device by making spurious, unsupported charges about her mental health
and the alleged standards of the profession. For the use and acceptance of these
devices among alternative practitioners, by some states in this country and by
many major foreign countries, see CR 2850-2851, 2860-2861; see also CR 2970-
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Statément of | Charges (“Amended Statement”). CR 60, 141; App. 2.
The Amended Statement retained all of the factual allegatiqns in thé
Statement, but added two ne§v paragraphs. Id a‘g 60-61. The first of these
(11.13) alleged only that at the first of P1's two visits with Dr. Ames, the
doctor had ordered blood, urine and hair testilllg. The second new paragraph
(71.14) alleged that at the secondlvisit Dr. Ames: discussed the test results,
which showed several food allergies; muscle tested Patient One’s arm in
conjunction with qsing the LISTEN and stated that the testing showed that he
was allergic to eggs; and later said that he “haydly needed the device
Aanymore”. because he could do what the device did “throﬁgh telepathy."’5
Ibid. This was the extent of the. new factual matter. /d at 60-61. Thus, thére
was no allegation that P1 did not have an egg allergy; that he had been
treated, or charged for treating, an allergy; or that Dr. Ames had told him that
- he had been cured of one. Nor was there any allegation abou“c the
investigation Dr. Ames had or had not doﬁe aBout the device before
begihning to use it With his patients. Nothing in these two new paragfaphs
stated that any of the facts alleged described or caused harm to the patient or

constituted any form of immoral or negligent conduct by Dr. Ames.

2972 (David Martin, M.D.).

This allegation was not confirmed in the panel’s ultimate findings and the likelihood of
this account was questioned by a panel member’s examination of P1. CR 2271-2272

14



The “Alleged Violations” section of the Amended Statement,
however, contained three new charges of unprofessional conduct in addition
to the charge that Dr. Ames had violated the federal and state food and drug
© law. Id at 62. The new chafges alleged that all facts pleaded constituted “an
act involving moral turpitude, dishonesty, or corruption relating to the
practice of the person’s profession” under RCW 18.130.180(1); negligence
“which creates an unreasonable risk that a patient may be harmed” under
RCW 18.130.1 80(4); and “promotion for personal gain of any . . .
inefficacious . . . device” under RCW 18.130.180(16). Ibid. During
discovery, DOH admitted that the new allegations were not based on new
~ evidence or information, but on the same evidence it had when it issued the
initial Statement. CR 110 19; CR 140.

Dr. Ames’s motions for summary‘ judgment, and inclusion of an
alternative physician on the panel that would judge him, were denied. CR:
1176, 1509. The panel chosen consisted of three Commission members, only
one of which was a physician, Dr. Uberéi; one physician’s_ assistant, Ms.
Paxton, a pro tem; and Mr. Tennis, a public member. CR 1850;App. 3, p.1.

The Evidence at the Hearing

The Department called four witnesses at the hearing — Dr. Ames, P1,
Richard Sherman, Ph.D. and Neil Ogden, an FDA employee. CR'1851; App.

3, p. 2. No DOH witness, other than Dr. Ames, testified concerning the
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efficacy of the LISTEN or of NAET, and Dr. Ames did'not support DOH. No
DOH witness, other than Dr. Ames, testified about the field of allergy health
care, and Dr. Ames did not criticize NAET and o’;he; alternative approaches.
No DOH witness testified that Dr. Ames’s LISTEN had .been marketed in
violation of féderal ér state laws; that the LISTEN created any. risks of harm;
that Dr. Ames had not sufficiently inveéftigated its safety prior to allegedly
using it with P1; that Dr. Ames’s conduct or practices created any risks or
was deficient in any respect.’ |

| Dr. :Ames called P2 and P3 (two of his patients); James Clark, the
LISTEN’s developer and a principal in the company that sold it; Dr. David

‘Martin, a Harvard M.D. and acupuncturist; and Dr. Ames, hiniself. CR 1851/

References to the record for this testimony is set forth in the statement of facts
and in the argument below and see footnote 7 infra. Dr. Sherman, an expert on
biofeedback machines — into which class the LISTEN fell — described his conception of
biofeedback and testified that such devices were completely safe. CR 2282-2353. He had
no knowledge of the LISTEN and did not testify about the use of galvanic response
devices for alternative purposes. [bid. Mr. Ogden testified about FDA practices and
procedures and the history of applications by the developer of the LISTEN for FDA
permission to market his device, but he was not familiar with the device in this case and
did not testify-to its legal status. CR 2388-2434.

The only expert evidence concerning acupuncture, acupressure, and allergies at
the hearing came from Dr. Martin and Dr. Ames. CR 2958-2961, 2970-2975, 2983-2984,
3028-3032, 3036, 3038-3040, 3054-3057. Dr. Ames testified in his case in chief, inter
alia, to basic facts about the allergy specialty, including the differences between
conventional and alternative approaches. Ibid; CR 3179. Both Dr. Martin and Dr. Ames
testified, inter alia, to the appropriateness of acupuncture and acupressure for treating
allergies. See references cited above. Dr. Martin also testified to the differences between
diagnosis under the Asian medical principles underlying acupuncture and acupressure and
the efficacy of muscle testing and NAET, describing unusually positive results obtained
by some of his patients who had seen an NAET practitioner for intractable allergies.
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The Final Order Entered by the Panel

During the hearing the panel dismiesed the charges under RCW
18.130.180(1) and (7), ruling that Dr. Ames had not been dishonest or
immoral, and had not violated any food and drug law (the only basis of the
original Statement of Charges). CR 1852-1853;App. 3. But the final order

found Dr. Ames had violated RCW 18.130.180(4)and RCW 18.130.180(16).

Id at 1863. Tt suspended his license for a ininimilm of five years, staying the

suspension on condition that he refrain from using the LISTEN‘; and ordered
him to. pey a $5,000 fine, submit to quarterly practice reviews, and appear
before the Commission every six months. CR 1864-1865 ;App. 3, 3.1-3.12.

The primary finding and/or conclusion was that the LISTEN was
“inefﬁcacious;” based on the muscle testing’s asserted indication that Pl had
an egg allergy that he did not have (an allegation not in the charges). Id at
1861. Negligence was found because an “inefficacious” device Wes vasserte_dly

used to assess and treat a patient” (also not in the charges)® and because Dr.

P2 and P3 testified about allergies that had been cleared up through the use of
NAET by Dr. Ames and the use of the LISTEN to find allergens of which they were
unaware. Mr. Clark testified, inter alia, about the acceptance of the device throughout
the country and the world for alternative purposes, its safety and its-FDA clearance.

The finding that Dr. Ames used the LISTEN to treat, as opposed to “assess,” is directly
contradicted by Findings of Fact ] 1.16, 1.18, 1.19, the panel’s own, earlier finding (see
CR 1858, 1859; App. 3) as well as by P1's own testimony, which-expressly states that the

“treatment” was acupressure. CR 2224-2225. This is also an earlier Finding of Fact./d at

CR 1859, ]1.19.
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Ames had assertedly failed to adequately confirm the LISTEN’s safety.” Id
at 1862 (also not in the chrges). “Promotion [of the device] for personal gain”
was found, because, although Dr. Ames did not charge for its use, he did
charge for and recommend NAET treatment. .]d at 1861-1862.

The Ofdér was upheld by the Benton County Superior Couﬁ. CP31.

ARGUMENT

L THE STANDARDS AND PROCEDURES GOVERNING
REVIEW IN THIS CASE INCLUDE SOME THAT ARE SPECIFIC
TO THIS TYPE OF CASE

A. The Standard of Review as to Findings of Fact
— the Special Meaning of Substantial Evidence Here

On review of an agency final order, the Court reviews the

administrative record directly, disregarding findings and conclusions of the

'Superiof court. Tapper v. Employment Sec. Dep't., 122 Wn.2d 397, 402-03,
858 P.2d 494 (1993). But here, the findings of fact must be supported 'by

evidence that “could reasonably [bé] found to be clear, cogent, and

convincing.” Bay v. Estate of Bay, 105 P.3d 434, 438 (Wn.App. Div.
1,2005); see In re Sego, 82 Wn.2d 736, 513 P.2d 831 (1973) (in a case that
must be proved by clear and convincing evidence, “substantial evidence” has
a special meaning — it is evidence that a rational fact finder would find to be
“highly probable”). Thus to uphold the ﬁﬁding that the LISTEN was

“inefficacious,” a fair-minded, rational fact finder would have to be

The panel did »ot find the LISTEN unsafe and did find that it could be marketed. CR 1857.
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convinced that the LISTEN was clearly “inefficacious.

B. The Standard for Reviewing the Meaning of the Statutes
And Regulations Relevant to this Cas Is De Novo and No
Weight is Given to Readings Contrary to the Statute’s Intent

This Court reviews a statute’s interpretation and application to fact

de novo. Ted Rasmussen Farms, LLC v. State, 127 Wn.App. 90, 94'-95, 110

P.3d 823, 825 (Div. 3,2005); Tapper v. State Employment Sec. Dept., 122

Wn.2d 397, 403, 858 P.2d 494, 498 (1993). If the meaning is “plain” —i.e.,

not capable of more than one reasonable interpretation — no weight is given

to an agency’s contrary interpretation. Ted Rasmussen Farms, loc. cit. supra;

Bauer v. State Employment Sec. Dept., 126 Wn.App. 468,473-474, 108 P.3d
1240, 1243-1244 (Div. 3,2005). To determine if the meaning is plain, the

Court considers not only the words immediately in dispute, but the entire

~ statute and related statutes. It harmonizes all provisions “to effectuate a

consistent statutory scheme,” attempts to give every word effect, and
‘_‘avoid[s] unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences.” /bid.
If, after this, there remains more than one reasonable reading, and the

“statute falls within the agency’s expertise,” the court may give great weight

to the agency interpretation. City of Olympiav. Drebick, 156 Wn.2d 289,295,

126 P.3d 802, 804 (2006) Ted Rasmussen Farms, supra, at 194-195. Yet

This modification of the “substantial evidence” standard is derived from Nguyen v. Medical

Commission, 144 Wn.2d 516, 534, 29 P.3d 689, 697 (2001) (finding of unplofessmnal
conduct requires “clear and convincing proof”).
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even where a court does so, the agency interpretation must be plausible and

not “contrary to legislative intent.” Premera v. Kreidler. 131 P.3d 930, 938

(Div. 2,2006). “ Ultimately, it is for the court to determine the meaning and

purpose of a statute.” Postema v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd., 142 Wn.2d

68, 77,11 P.3d 726, 733 (2000). “[N]o deference is accorded if the agency

interpretation conflicts with the statute.” Bauer, supra. City of Pascov. Pub.

Employment Relations Comm'n, 119 Wn.2d 504, 507, 833 P.2d 381 (1992).
C. Additional Requirements That the Panel’s Order Must Satisfy

In order to assure meaningful appellate review and to legitimize
delegation of adjudicativeland legislative power to an executive agency, the
Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), 34.05 RCW, makes “special
requirements of state agencies. See e.g., RCW 34.05.461(3) and (4); see

United Chiropractors v. State, 90 Wn.2d 1, 5, 578 P.2d 38, 39-40 (1978)

(requiring adequate procedural safeguards to justify delegation of legislative,
executive and judicial power to disciplinary board); see generally Painter v.

Abels, supra, 998 P.2d at 939; Franz v. Board of Med. Quality Assfncé., 31

Cal.3d 124, 140, 181 Cal.Rptr. 732 (1982); Martin v. Sizemore, 78 S.W.3d

249 (Tenn.Ct.App. 2001)." Courts need only state their ultimate findings of

MQAC is governed by all of these provisions. Nguyen v. Medical Assurance
Commission, 144 Wn.2d 516, 520, 29 P.3d 689, 690 (2001); see RCW 18.130.100.
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" fact and conclusions of law, and nothing more.'? But the Commission’s final

order must not only state findings and conclusions, but also “the reasons and
basis therefor, on all the material issues of fact, law, or discretion presented
onthe record.” Ibid. Emphasis added. For this requirement’s importance, see

Drew v. Psychiatric Sec. Rev. Bd, 322 Or. 491, 498, 500, 909 P.2d 1211,

1214-1215 (1996).
In addition, unlike a court, under the APA, the agency must:

[1] [identify] any findings based substantially on credibility
of evi_dence or demeanor of witnesses; [and]

[2] [provide] a concise and explicit statement of the
underlying evidence of record to support the findings
[when they are] set forth in language that is essentially a
repetition or paraphrase of the relevant provision of law

RCW 34.05.461(3) (emphasis added). The findings must “be based
exclusively” either

[1] on the evidence of record in the adjudicative proceeding [or]
[2] on matters officially noticed in that proceeding.

RCW 34.05 .461(4) (emphasis added). Only the following may Be noticed:
(a) any judicially cognizable facts, (b) technical or scientific

Sfacts within the agency’s specialized knowledge and (c) codes or
standards . . . of the United States, of this state or of another state, or.

The importance of holding an agency to these procedures is magnified here
because the agency given judicial and legislative power is governed by professionals who
are not compensated for their time, not full-time officials, and ordinarily free to pursue
their private professional and economic interests, which can conflict with an accused’s.
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by a nationally recognized organization or association.
RCW 34.05.452(5) (emphasis added). However, the parties must be notified

of any “material so noticed and the sources thereof” and “afforded an

| opportunity to contest” them. /bid. In this case, there was no notification that

any “technical or scientific fact[] within the agency’s specialized knowledge”
(or any other fact) would be or had been officially noticed.- .

D. . The Johnston Decision Cannot Pull the
Panel’s Evidentiary Coals Out of the Fire

- Defensiveness about the evidence and reasoning supporting the Order
is betrayed by its invocation, even before it sets out its findings and

conclusions, of Johnston v. Medical Board, 99 Wn.2d 466, 663 P.2d

457(1983) and Brown v. Dental Board, 94 Wn.App. 7,972 P.2d 101 (Div. 3,

1998). CR 1852.1° Johnston found that where a disciplinary panel consists
enﬁrely of members of the regulated p‘ro'fession (not the case here, of course)
and the charge is negligence, expert testimony as to the specific professional

standard violated by the alleged conduct is unnecessary. This, Davidson says,

is because the panel’s members will all know, and have the final word on,

what the standard is. Applying Johnston and Davidson here raises several

Brown cites Johnston and another 1983 decision, Davidson v. Department of Licensing,
33 Wn.App. 783, 657 P.2d 810 (Div. 1, 1983), in a general preamble, but its actual reasoning
neither relies on or even mentions either case.
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doctrinal and statutory difficulties.'* But they would have little bearing on this
case, in any event, for two reasons. First, Johnston and the other cases do not
purport to change the requirement} that the decision must be based on

evidence exclusively in the record and that the parties must be notified of any

. “technical or scientific facts” that the agency intends to notice. See Franz v.

Board of Medical Quality Assurance, 31 Cal.3d 124, 140, 181 Cal .Rptr. 732

(1982) (“due process requires, when . . . an agency intends to rely on
members’ expertise . . . that it notify the parties”)."” Thus, even if the panel
can consult its experience about the conventional standa;d of care, its
ultimate finding of negligence must still be based on clear and convincing
evidence exclusively in the record. iv

Here, as required by the APA, the panel stated the subordinate factual

findings on which it based its finding of negligence. Dr. Ames contends that

One reason Johnston and Davidson appear inapposite is that RCW
18.130.180(4), enacted eight years later, declares that “nontraditional treatment”
is not in itself “unprofessional conduct.” Thus, alternative providers cannot be
guilty of unprofessional conduct merely because they do not adhere to orthodox
standards, making the panel’s expertise as to those standards largely irrelevant.

Because, Johnston and Davidson were decided before enactment of the current
APA, of RCW 18.130.180(4), and of other legislation protecting alternative
health care, as well as almost twenty years before Nguyen v. Medical Quality .
Assurance Commission, supra, they could not have addressed any of the current
evidentiary requirements — e.g., of clear and convincing evidence — laid down by
this authority or the new policies favoring alternative care that they reflect.

23



they are not only insufficient, but grossly so and so disingenuous as also to

be arbitrary and capricious. See e.g., Olmstead v. Department of Health, 61

Wn.App. 888, 895, 812 P.2d 527 (Div. 1,1991). Similarly, but more
obviously, although under Johnston, DOH need not, at least in cases like
Johnston, introduce specific evidence of the assertedly applicable
convention'al standard of care, it is not relieved of the burden of introducing
clear and convincing evidence of every other element constituting élleged
unprofessional conduct. For example, Johnston does not relieve DQH of tile '
need té establish that Dr; Ames’s conduct created an “unreasonable risk” of
harm to a patient, and that the device in this case was “inefficacious” and

“promot(ed] for “personal gain.”

Thus, Johnston and Davidsqn stand only for the proposition that the
panel members in making a negligence dete@ination may use the general,
background knowledge that they havé acquired thrdﬁgh their.training and
experience to evaluate and draw inferences from the evidence thét was
introduced. E.g, Brown at 105.(*agency may use its experience and
specialized knowledge to ¢valuate and draw inferences from the evidence”).
There mllst stili be clear and convincing evidence of record from which the
rational, fair-minded fact-finder can infér the necessary ultimate fact.

Compare, e.g., Franz v. Board of Medical Quality Assurance, supra at 142-
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143 (record must disclose the basis of the panel’s expert opinion). 16

II. THE EVIDENCE THAT DR. AMES WAS NEGLIGENT
FOR USING THE LISTEN IS GROSSLY
INSUFFICIENT, INDEED, DISINGENUOUS

A. Why There is a Special Need For Clear and
Convincing Evidence in this Case

Th¢ Commission charged Dr. Ames with unprofessional conduct fof
using the LISTEN in aséessing P1. It thus had the burden of production and
persuasion as to each fact on which it based this quasi-criminal charge. WAC
246-11-520 (“the Burden is on the department to prove the alleged factual

basis of the initiating doucment”); Nguyen v. Medical Quality Assurance

Commission, 144 Wn.2d 516, 29 P.3d 689 (2001). Because it is a quasi-

criminal charge involving severe professional consequences, because the

- public invests in and needs the services of highly-trained health care

practitioners, and because error is likelier on charges adjudicated by part-time

agency members combining judicial, legislative and executive functions, and

acting “as investigator, prosecutor, and decisionmaker” (Painter v. Abels,
998 P.2d 931 (Wyo.2000), see footnote 3, supra.), Washington requires that

DOH’s proof be “clear and convincing.” Nguyen, supra.

. Johnston’s holding about standard of care evidence — which was not the primary holding

in that case —was cursory, incidental, almost casual, and the Court did not appear to be
aware that its position was a minority one, raising serious due process and other problems.
If Dr. Ames were forced to challenge it in the Supreme Court that it would not likely
survive. See Martin v. Sizemore, 78 S.W.3d 249 (Tenn.Ct.App. 2001) for the reasons.

25



Where the respondent is an alternative‘physician — philosophically
and professionally at odds with the médical establishment that necessarily
controls the commission investigating, charging, and judging.him — the
chances of error afe even greater. This is not merely common sense. Itisa
legislative finding. RCW 18.130.180(4) deélares in pertinent part:

The use of a non-traditional treatment by itself shall not constitute
unprofessional conduct, provided that it does not result in injury to a
patient or create an unreasonable risk that a patient may be harmed.

This language was enacted because of the perceived prejudice of
conventional medicine against alternative practitioners. It was introduéed in
House Bill 1960. The legislative intent is expressed in the H.B. 1960 Bill
Report:

* The state Medical Disciplinary Board has discriminated against

" physicians who practice alternative health care, considered
' nontraditional medicine. Many patients who received no satisfaction
with traditional medical care have gotten relief from physicians who
practice under other theories, including holistic medicine. The board
should not discriminate unreasonably against these physicians as long
as no harm is being done. Their patients demand a fireedom to choose
the health care that they believe is best for them, and this freedom is
adversely affected by discrimination and harassment ﬁom state

disciplinary authorities.

Emphasis added. At a minimum, this prohibition against discrimination
requires — what due process and equal protection should require in any event

-

—that the standards of evidence, the modes of statutory interpretation and the
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deference to the practitioner’s professional judgment that would be applied
to conventional physicians be applied to alternative physicians.

B. It Should Go Without Saying That One Anecdotal
Case Cannot Establish a Device to be Inefficacious

Thé panel was required by RCW 34.05.461(3) to state the reasons for
finding Dr. Ames negligent under RCW 18.130:180(4). It purpofted to
comply. Negligence was predicated on a finding thaf the LISTEN was an
inefficacious device, that using it as part of the assessment prevented Dr.
Armes from making an appropriate diagnosis and treatment, and, apparently,
that it led to mistakenly telling Patient One that he had been cured of an
- allergy he did not in fact have. ;CR 1861-62; App. 3 {91.25, 1.28.

| Although the factual findings supporting the finding/conclusion of
negligence are flawed in other ways, the finding of negligence (and of a
violation under RCW 18.130.180(16)) fails without the finding that the
LISTEN was inefficacious. But DOH called‘no expert .or‘ lay witness to
.vtestify that the device was inefficacious. It offered ﬁQ testimony or studies —
published or otherwise — showing that the device had been evaluated by
competent reséarchers using competent research methods and found not to
work. It did not even claim that the device had been shown séientiﬁcally to
be of no value in the ass.essment of food allergies.

The sole basis of the finding/conclusion of inefficacy was the
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assertion that Dr. Ames had used the device to diagnese P1 and that the
~device had erroneously found him to have an egg allergy. -Passing for a
moment the inadequacy of the evidence that Dr. Ames used the device to
diagnose P1 and that his diagnosis was wfoﬁg, arational judgment about the
efficacy of a device, a remedy or anything else‘cannot be predicated on one |

use with one patient on one occasion. Speculation and conjecture are not

evide’noe..Lamvhz’ear v. Skagit Corp., 6 Wn.App. 350, 356, 493 P.2d 1018,
1022-1023 (Div. 3, 1972) (verdict may not be founded “on mere theory,
speculation or conjecture”). A reasonable inference must logically
follow from an established fact. Id at 356, at 1023. The panel is inferring
from one assertedly false pesitive on one occasion thaf the device would yield
false‘ pesitives (or false negatives).on all other occasions, ;or (it would
probably argue) that a false positive on one occasion means that any
‘successes on other occasions would result from mere chance or, perhaps, the
placebo effect. This, of course, is gross, pre‘posterousv speculation.l Aninfinite
number of eXplanations could account for a de\}ice’s failure on any one
occasion. No eviderlce was presented to show that any of such explanations
were not applicable here.

‘No device, remedy or procedure works all of the time. No rational

person would conclude that a modality is ineffective just because it was

incorrect on one occasion. No device would be efficacious by that standard.
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Prescribing mammograms would be “unprofessional conduct,” because they

are known to yield both false positives and false negatives. See Simmons v.

East Nassau Medical Group. P.C.,260 A.D.2d 463, 464, 688 N.Y.S.2d 209,
210 (App.Div. 2d Dept., 1999). So, too, would be blood pressure and pap
tests and CT scans, noﬁe of which have been scientifically established, even
though they are widely used. Dr. Ames seﬁd that the device mefeiy assisted-
him, did not claim it to be right every time and said it had to be confirmed
by a successful acupressure treatment. CR 2151-2152, 2175-2176.

That a panel of a medical board would decide that a device does not
work — a decision that affects not only Dr. Ames, but the manufacturer,
distributors and other users of the device, not to speak of the fully informed, -
competent patients who want it available to them — without any scientific
studies, without any expert testimony and without any history of empirical
evidence would probably be unbeiievable to anyone who did not know the
history of orthodox medicine’s attempts to suppress alternative modalities,

irrespective of what the law might say. See, e.g., Wilk v. American Medical

Association, 719 F.2d 207 (7th Cir. 1983) cert denied 467 U.S. 1210 (1984)

(upholding antitrust judgment against organized medicine for attempting to

destroy chiropractic profession); Andrews v. Ballard, 498 F.Supp.. 1038

(D.Tex. 1980)) (fej ecting medical board ban on acupuncture); State Medical

Board v. Rogers, 387 So.2d 937 (Fla. 1980) (medical board violated
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' constitutional right to provide chelation to fully-informed patients who

wanted it); Kurk v. Medical Society, 46 Misc.2d 790, 260 N.Y.S.2d 520

(Sup.Ct. Queens 1965) (illegal exclusion of osteopaths from medical society

and hospital privileges); Painter v. Abels ,99 8 P.2d 931 (Wyo. 2000)

(medical board unéonstitutionally acted against device like the LISTEN).

The record here demonstrates unequivocally that this case is part of

-~

the long history of orthodox medicine’s attempts to suppress alternatives with

which it disagrees, but which it cannot prove to be ineffective. Especially in

light of this State’s commitment to allowing patients freedom of choice in
health care, this Court should perform its historic function of protecting
individual liberty from official Iéwlessness and rule that no rational persoﬁ
could find the LISTEN inefficacious on th‘e;’ “evidénce’? invoked here.

C. _ Evenif Dr. Ames Had Made an Erroneous Diagnosis,
He Could Not Have Been Properly Found Negligent
Merely Because He Did So on One Occasion

Just as the LISTEN could not be indfcted as inefficacious based on
one anecdote, Dr. Ames could_not‘have been rationally found negligent
baséd on one assertedly erroneous diagnosis, unless, again, the panel is
applying a special discriminatory ruie tb alternative physicians. Gerard v.

Sacred Heart Medical Center, 86 Wn.App. 387, 389, 937 P.2d 1104, 1105

(Div. 3, 1997) (error in judgmerit is not in itself negligence). Physicians and

health care providers make errors all of the time. The panel found that Dr.
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Ames used the LISTEN in good faith and was not guilty of acts of dishonesty
or moral turpitude. CR 1863; App. 3, §2.5. This is a finding that when he
.L1§ed it, he thought it efficacious. The panel did not find that Dr. Ames had
reason to know the device was inefficacious and that its empirical support
was of no value — there was no evidence for such a finding. Thus, negligence :
could not properly be found for the one clinical error asserted.

D. The Finding Is Unsupported Because The Very
Evidence Found Credible Was That the Diagnosis
Asserted Was Based on Conventional Blood Testing

The Amended Statement alleged and the Order found that Dr. Ames
ordered blood tests and discussed the findings with Patient One. CR 61,
1858; App. 2, §1.13; App. 3, 1 1.14, 1.15.  One of those tests, the RAST
test, as both P1 and Dr. Ames testified, showed that the pativent had an egg
allergy. CR 2082, 2170-2171. P1 testified that Dr. Ames’s alleged diagnosis
was based on this tést. CR21 92, 2203-2204, 2206. The panel expressly found
Patient One’s accounts of his visits with Dr. Ames credible. CR 1854; App.
3,p. 5, Theré was no testimony that the alleged diagnosis of an egg allergy
- was baséd on the NAET muscle testing using thé LISTEN.A

The panel’s finding of negligence rested not only on the ﬁnding that
the LISTEN had been wrong on the one occasion involved in this proceeding,
buf also on a finding that Dr. Ames’s alleged diagﬁosis of an egg allergy was

based on his use of the LISTEN. Thus, just as a failure to establish that the
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LISTEN was inefﬁcacieus would defeat the finding of negligence, so too
would a‘ failure to establish that Dr. Ames used the LISTEN to reach his
alleged conclusion that there was such an allergy. But the eﬁidenee was that
Dr. Ames relied not on the LISTEN, but on the blood test. Thus, the finding ﬁ
is unsuppofted by any evidence on this essential element and cannot stand.

E. The Finding That Patient One Did Not Have an Egg
Allergy When He Saw Dr. Ames is Also Logically
Fallacious, Speculative and Grossly Unsupported

The ﬁnding of inefficacy is based.eritirely ona ﬁndirig fhat Patient

1 did not have an egg allergy when he came to see Dr. Ames. Thus, DOH had

the burden of proving that P 1 did not have that allergy, by clear and

convincing evidence. But DOH called no expert witness to so testify and

introduced no medical records to this effect. There was no evidence that P1 |

~ had ever been tested for an egg or any ether food allergy. There was no

contention, let alone evidence, that anyone (with or without testing) -

physician, other health care provider, or even layperson — had ever told him -

that he did nof have such an allergy. Indeed, even P1 testified that he did not
know if he had an egg allergy. CR 22609.

The only medical records introduced were in Dr. Ames’s chert. CR

1851, 1932-1982. These contained P1'srecords from other physicians, but no

refefence to testing or diagnosis relating to allergies. Ibid. Ner did DOH call

any medical or other experts on allergies—indeed, DOH called no physicians
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for any purpose —and thus there was no gvidence regarding the nature of food
| allergies, their symptoms. testing, or treatmént that supported DOH. The
reason there was no expert .or documentary evidence that P1 did not have an
egg allergy was that this proposition was not part of DOH’s case when .it filed
either the original or the amended statement of charges; when it filed its pre-
trial statement; or when it made its opening statement. See infra. Nor would
essential testimony relating to the egg allergy have even béen in the record
when DOH rested had it not been elicited from P1 by Ms. Paxton, the ad hoc
architect of this and anofher major theory reflected in the Order. (The
illegality of relying on the testimony she elicited is discussed infra.)
| Thus, the findings on which the panel found no egg allergy were

solely as folloWé: (1) that no one other than Dr. Ames had diagnosed Pl with
an begg allergy; (2) that P1 “had no reactiori to eating eggs, except that he does
no.t like to eat them;” and (3) “thefe Waé no clinical evidence to support” a
ﬁndiﬁg of an egg allergy. CR 1861; App. 3, § 1.25.

As to the Absénce of an Earlier Diagnosis. Thgt 1o one ever told
P 1 he had an égg allergy does not even create a colorable infefence.

where ciréiunstantial evidence is relied on to prove negligence,

the circumstances must, with reasonably certainty, lead to

the conclusion for which they are adduced.

Sanchez v. Haddix, 95 Wn.2d 593, 627 P.2d 1312 (1981). For one thing,

there was no evidence that P1 was ever fold that he did not have an egg
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allergy or ever tested for an egg or any other food allergy. There was
evidence of a non-food allergy — i.e., to dust and pollens — and that he had
hay fever. The panel may have assumed that if he was so diagnosed, he was

tesfed or at least examined for food allergies as well. But that would be

sheer, unsupported speculation. DOH called no witness to so testify. Not

even a scintilla of evidence supports such an inference.

E{/en if it were admissible to infer that Pl had been tested for food
allergies from the fact that h;a had been tested for dust and pollen allergies,
there was no evidence to supppﬁ areasonable, non-speculative iﬁference that
P1 did npt develop an egg allergy in the following 20 to 25 _ye‘ars.]7

No Reaction (That he Knew Oﬂ NorcanP1's testirhony that he had
no “reaction” to eggs establis_h that he did not have an allergy to them. First,
when he gave the answer, it was in response to a question from Ms. Paxton,
not a ph’ys’ician and obviously not an expert on allergiés, who told him what

she thought the symptoms of all allergies were V(“c;ongesﬁon, hives, . . .

Indeed, it would not even support a reasonable inference that he did not have an
egg allergy 20 to 25 years ago. Since there was no evidence of any testing for
food allergies, there was also no evidence that the testing that was hypothetically
done was reliable. There was, of course, no evidence that this hypothetical
testing was superior to Dr. Ames’s testing, if the testing were different. The
meaning of such testing — if it had occurred — could not be determined because
there was no evidence about allergy testing, except testing from Dr. Ames’s
witnesses — i.e., himself and Dr. Martin — and that was to the effect that
conventional allergy testing was not highly reliable — one of the reasons that
alternative modalities were employed and why Dr. Ames did not rely on any one
indicium in deciding whether to treat a patient for an allergy.
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closing of the throat™) and her question, in effect, asked him if'he had those
‘symptoms. CR 2269. Thus, his statement that he had no “reaction” to eggs
is ambiguous, not clear and convincing. It may only have meant that he did
not have common pollen allergy symptoms. In legal terms, P1 was not
competent to testify to the symptoms of food allergies; there was no evidence

that he was; and he did not purport to so testify. See Ravsten v. Department

of Labor and Industries, 108 Wn.2d 143,736 P.2d 265 (1987) (diagnosis and

prognosis are medical matters requiring medical testimony); McKee v.

American Home Products Corp., 113 Wn.2d 701, 782 P.2d 1045 (1989)

(“medical facts . . . must be proved by expert testimony”). No witness
supporting DOH testified to the symptoms of food allergies. (Ms. Paxton’s |
assertion, of courée, is not evidence.) P1, when asked if he was cured of his
egg allergy, said “I don’t know,” CR 2269, suggesting his awareness of
limited knowledge abouf his own allergies. Certainly, no one testified that
P1's symptoms were not the 1<ipds that people with food éllergies have. See
CR 3079 (“allergies which cause fatigue”). P1 could only testify to reactioﬁs
of which he was conscious and which he consciously connected to eating
eggs. But the fact that he was not conscious of any effect on his body from
eating a partiéular food would not support an inference that the food had no
adverse effect on him. Allergy testing is common and necessary, because

people commonly do not know if they are allergic, and if so, to what, but the
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fact that they do not know, does not mean that they have no allergies. See
CR 2975-2976. For a patient’s dramatic discovery of a sugar allergy he did
not know he had until muscle testéd with the LISTEN, see CR 2697, 2699.
P1 admitted that the fatigue, lethargy, aches and paiﬁs he reported
were symptoms and he did not know what caused them. CR 2274-2275. Dr.
Ames Would. not have ordered blood testing for food allergies — if he was
aé.ting' in good faith, and the panel found him in good faith — unless he
Vt‘hought that these symptoms might be éaused at least in part by a food allergy
of some i{ind. There was no evidence of a motive to orde;r unnecessary tests.
Clinical Evidence. The panel begs the question when it asserts that
there was no clinical evidence of an egg allergy. It is assuming without proof
that the RAST blood test showing of an egg allergy, P1's fatigue, lethargy, |
apathy, aches and pains, and the results of the muscle testing using the
LISTEN were nét even some evidence of such an allergy. Although none
are conclusive, they are all some evidence of an egg allergy. Thus, the
finding that there was 7o clinical eyidence of such an allergy is unsupported
and directly contradicts the record. That the muscle testing usiﬁg the LISTEN
produced evidence of an allergy is supported by the experience of the patients
- Dr. Ames was permitted to call and by Dr. Martin. See, e.g., CR 2970-2972, | .
2696-2700, 273 0,2732.ForDr. Ames’s testimoﬁy of ‘efﬁc;etcy, see-CR 2164, |

3037-3038, 3044-3048, 3051, 3061-3063, 3116. In the absence of clear and |
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convincing evidence that this testing was inefficacious — and at bottom the
only evidence was the assertion of no egg allergy, based in part on the
assumption that thé testing iﬁdicating there was such an allergy did not work,
ie., the propositioﬁ to be proved — it must be presumed to be efficacious.

F. The Finding of Negligent Use of the LISTEN Is Based on
. Uncharged Facts of Which Dr. Ames Was Not Given Notice
And Thus Can Support No Finding or Conclusion Here

In the next section of this brief, Dr. Ames discusses the requirement
of DOH regulations, the due process clause and the Administrative Procedure
Act that tﬁe essential facts ‘cbn.stituting a charge of unprofessional conduct
must be pleaded in the statement of charges. That authority applies as well to
the findings that P1 did not have an egg allergy, and that Dr. Ames treated
him for one, and the;t told him that he had been cured. None of these facts
were pleaded, set forth in the DOH pre-hearing statement or even mentioned
in the DOH opéniﬁg sf;témént and they are the basis: for a very different
theory of the case than is expressed in the Amended Statement of Charges.
See CR 3, 60; App. 1, 2; CR 898, 965, 2052-2058. Dr. Ames was not
prepared to defend against that theory.» The finding that P1 did not have an
egg allergy, for example, is essential to-the finding that the LISTEN was
inefficacious and fhat there wés an unreasonable risk of harm, but it was
never claifned and the evird;enc‘:e relating to it came in éasually and without

indication that it was sought for more than background. Amendment of the
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pleadings to conform to proofis not permitted under DOH regulations. WAC
246-11-260(2). And no such amendment was sought in any event. The
discussion below shows why these central and other factual allegations had

to be pleaded. The failure to plead them or otherwise give Dr. Ames notice

- in itself requires dismissal of this case.

IIL THE FINDING OF NEGLIGENT FAILURE TO INVESTIGATE
THE SAFETY OF AN FDA-CLEARED DEVICE IN WIDE USE
WAS NOT ONLY NOT CHARGED, BUT IS SUPPORTED BY
NOTHING OTHER THAN GROSS, AD HOC SPECULATION

The Commission apparently finds Dr. Ames additionally negligent,
because, it asserts, he“failed to take the necessary safefy measures to ensure
that the LISTEN device would ndt be harmful.” CR 1862;App. 3, q1.27.
There is no such charge in the statements of chargeé, or in the DOH  pre-trial
or opening statements. See CR 3, 60; App. 1, 2; CR 898, 965, 2052-2058.
DOH could have amended When it filed its pre-hearing statement and at the
outset of the Learing. See CR 898, 965; WAC 246-11-260(2). It did not do
so. The présiding officer éxpressly rejected DOH’s belated attémpt to make
this an issue. CR 2677; see als'b CR 21 68 (substance of statement of chérges

is that use of the LISTEN is unprofessional).'8 The charges filed are based

For an elaboration of what the law requires, see Cooper v. Board of Professional
Discipline of Idaho State Bd. of Medicine,134 Idaho 449, 454-455, 4 P.3d 561, 566-567
(2000) (emphasis added): .

In order to satisfy due process, the complaint must specify theparticular acts of
unprofessional conduct alleged. /citing authority] The professional is not
required to defend against or explain any matter not specified in the charges. . ..
It is elementary that in any judicial or guasi-judicial proceeding, a pleading in
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solely on P1's two visits with Dr. Ames and the spurious claim of an FDCA
violation. Thus, to pr_edicate a ﬁnding of unprofessional conduct under the
UDA on other facts, plainly violates agency regulations, the APA and due
process. WAC 246-11-250(1)(b) requires that a DOH‘ statement of charges
“include a clear and concise statement of the . . . . (b) Factual basis for the
action or proposed action set forth in the documént.” Efnphasis added. Due
procéss entitles the licensee “to be notified of clear and specific charges and

to be afforded an opportunity to anticipate, prepare, and present a defense.”

- In re Disciplinary Proceeding Aﬁainsz‘ Romero, 152 Wn.2d 124, 137, 94
P.3d 939, 945 (2004)(emphdsis added.) See also RCW 34.05.434(2)(3).
No doubt because DOH had no complaint about Dr. Ames’s
investigation of the LISTEN, it offered no evidence on the subject in its case
ih chief. Nevertheless, the panel found that Dr. Ames “failed to
take the necessary safety measures to ensure that the LISTEN device
would not be harmful to his patients. The Respondent obtained no-
literature or had no labeling on the LISTEN device, and he had not
received any personal training on its use. The Respondent only
listened to his colleagues and to a salesperson. The Respondent did

not know the voltage or the amperage that the . . . . device produces.

Note: the panel does not find the LISTEN unsafe — as it could not, since the

the nature of an accusation or complaint must containpositive statements of the
essential facts, and that it is insufficient where it merely states conclusions....
[The defendant] was entitled ... to have the charges set out specifically, in order
that he might have time and opportunity to prepare his defense."
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FDA cleared it and the only testimony (including teétimony from the DOH
biofeedback expert, Dr. Sherman) was that it was safe. DOH'introduced no
evidence that Dr. Ames or anyone else — health care provider, patient,
manufacturer, distributor, retailer — had ever had a safety problem with it or
with any other similar device. Thus, the finding says in effect, that although
the devicelwas safe and was cleared By the FDA, it might have been unsafe
and therefore Dr. Ames shduld not have relied “only” on his colleagues and
a éalesperson, but should have obtained literature or labeling about its safety
and should havé 1ea£ned its exact voltage or amperage. .

First, there was no evidence that Dr. Ames relied “only” on
consultations with his colleagues and the vendor. The only evidence relating |
to this was in Dr. Ames’s own testimony and Dr. Ames testified not only that
he consulted colleagues and the vendor, but that he knew that the device and
devices like it were being marketed freely without FDA interference; many
other physicians and health care providers had told hil;l’l that they were using
~ them, and that they were quick, effective and safe; and that the dlevice had
been “registered” or “cleared” with the FDA. CR 2105, 2107-2108, 3037-
3038, | 30'63-3 065. Most importantly, Dr. Ames used it on himself and
experienced no other problém with it. CR 3120. At the time he allegedly
used it with P1 he haci been using the‘device for four years and had never had

any problem with it. CR 2102, 3119-3120. Second, there was no evidence
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about the practices of physicians or features of the device which should have
led Dr. Ames to do more than he did. That is, there was no evidence
supporting anon-speculative inference‘that what he did Was not sufficient in
light of the risk. There was no evidence that physicians do not typically rely
“only” on colleagues and vendors for this kind of information.

Third, the finding that literature, labeling or personal training Was
“necessary” was unsupported. There was no evidence that anything in the
literature, labeling or a tutorial would not have béen and was not learned from
the consultations he had with colleagues and vendors and from his own
personal uée with it. Who, after all, would have written the literature or the
labeling if not colleagues and/or the vendor? In this case, the “vendor” was
the actual developer of ;che device. CR 2157, 2838-2839, 2841-2842, 3064-
3066. The panel is speculating about what Dr. Ames learned from colleagues
and Mr. Clark and about What could be learned from literature. These
speculativ_e inferences are not reasonable, not admissible and insufﬁcient to
support the finding. The fact that Dr. Ames could not recall the exact
amperage or voltage — he correctly said theré was a five ohm current — does
not mean that he did not know that the energy involved was minuscule and
insignificant, as it was. CR 2097-2098, 2177. That he was not sure of the
specific number several years after purchasing, and after four years of using,

the device supports no rational finding against him.
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The evidence on which the Commission relies was developed
pﬁmarily by Ms. Paxton. This questioning was one of a number of her
attempts .to save the case that DOH brought to the hearing (which plainly was
not supported by relevant evidence) by raising unpleaded issues. CR Zi 67-
2169, 2177, 2264-2268, 2349, 3155-3157, 3162-3164. Ms. Paxton
apparently knew little about electricity (early on she asked Dr. Ames to tell
her what “resistance” was: CR 2097). The findings express one layperson’s
concern with an electronic devipe for which there was n.o‘ evidence of any
danger and one of her — and.the panel’s ideolo gically-based attempts — to find

a way to prevent the use of the LISTEN."”

IV. “PROMOTION FOR PERSONAL GAIN” WAS NOT
SUPPORTED BY THE FINDINGS

The panel found that Dr. Ames violated RCW 18.130.180(16), which
declares to be “unprofessional conduct”:

promotion for personal gain of any unnecessary or
inefficacious drug, device, treatment, procedure, or service

CR 1861; App. 3, § 1.26. Since the evidence did not support a finding of

The alleged requirement to take more steps to insure the safety of the.device would
never have been made of a conventional physician, many of whom it is certain know very
little about the engineering of the devices they use or prescribe. And, although, in the
Order and in its brief, the panel and DOH are dismissive of consultations with colleagues
and vendors, the.court can take as a legislative fact that they are a defining characteristic
of medical and other health care practices. For example, conventional physicians rely —
far too much — on drug and equipment salespersons for their knowledge of these items —
and look to their colleagues in deciding what is acceptable practice.
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inefficacy, the conclusidn cannot stand. There are, however, addi;cional
grounds for overturning it.
Even if the LISTEN/NAET testing was inefficacious, the findings
- must still support the conclusion that Dr. Ames “promot[ed it] for personal
gain.” But such a conclusion disregards fundamental principles of statutory
interpretation and would never be invoked in a proceeding agaiﬁst a
conventional physician. The panel finds that Dr. Ames “promot[ed]” the
| LISTEN *“ for personal gain,” because the device was used in his practice as
“part of the whole picture of assessment and treatment,” helping in
assessments and speeding up visits. CR 1857, 1861; App. 3,91.12 and 71.26.
It is conceded that the patient is not chérged for using the device. But it is
claimed that Dr. Ames bills “for visits that include the LISTEN device’s use,”

and that he suggested that P1 return for additional food allergy treatments.

Ibid. All of this, other than the statement about P1, is based on testimony of

Dr. Ames, which the panel accepted. Df. Ames also testified that patients are
charged the same whethér the device is used with them or not and that he did
not recoup the cost of the LISTEN. CR 2162, 3119. The panel did not find

otherwise and did find Dr. Ames acted in good faith. CR 1863; App. 3, 92.5.

The Panel’s ﬁhding means that the statute applies to any physician, -

conventional or alternative, who in good faith uses a device in his practice

that is later determined to be inefficacious by a regulatory body, if the use of
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the device is related to a service for which the physician charges and provides
in good faith. This violates several fundamental principles of statutory

interpretation set forth above. See generally Ted Rasmussen Farms, LLC v.

State, supra, at 94-95; Bauer v. Stdte Employment Sec. Dept., supra, at 473-

474. Where possible every word in the statute must be given effect and the
statute must be interpreted in the context of other related provisions —e.g.,

RCW 18.130.180(1) and (4) — all of which must be given effect and

harmonized. See also Mader v. Health Care Authority, 70_ P.3d 931, 937
(Wa. 2003). Unlikely, strained or absurd intérpretations should be avoided.

Glaubach v. Regence BlueShield 149 Wash.2d 827, 833-834, 74 P.3d 115,

118 (2003). The stafute must be construed to effectuate, not defeat the
legislatﬁre’s infent. Steele v. State, 85 Wash.2d 585, 590, 537 P.2d 782, 786
(1975) (statutes are construed to be purposeful and effective).

The panel’s interpretation disregards the literal language and defeats
the purpose of RCW 18.130.180's provision that “The use of anon-traditional
treatment by itself shall not constitute unprofessional conduct”; fails to give
effect to the words “promotion” and “personal gain”; disregards the language
of RCW 18.130.1 80(1), and yields absurd consequences, because if applied
to conventional medicine, as it must be if the panel is not to be allowed to
discriminate by ad hoc rulings against alternaﬁve medicine, it wouldvindict

all physicians for conduct that is clearly innocent and acceptable.
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Although it appears in a section of the UDA which deals with
incompetence, negligence and malpractice, the provision protecting
alternative medicine in RCW 18.130.180(4) does not merely say that “use of
a nontradifional treatment by itself” shall not constitute incompetence, '
negligehce or malpractice. It says that it shall not constitute “unprofessional
conduct,” which is another way of saying that it shall not constitute a
violation of any subsection of RCW 18.130.180, the statute that defines
unprofessional condﬁct. That in turn means that non&aditioﬁal treatment is

“not a violation of subsection 16 in the absence of unreasonable risk.
Thé literal interpretation is supported by considering the effect on
alternative health care —and, therefore on the purpose of RCW 18.130.180(4)
- — if the use of what is later ruled to be an inefficacious device is held a
violation of subsection 16. The reason various procedﬁre-s and treatments are
called alternative is that they are not éccepted by orthodox 'phys'icia‘ns, who
do not believe they work — i.e., they believe (or profess té believe) thgt they
are “inefficacious” or “unnecessa:.ry.” Thus, if subsection 16 were construed
to permit a medicél commission to find unprofessional the use in a typical
alternative practice (i.e., one in which the patient pays for the service) of any
- device or sérvice ‘_chat conventional physicians think to be inefﬂcacious or
unnecessary — the commission will inevitably represent conventional

thinking, because the great majority of physicians are conventional and their

45



views dominate the mass media - it would make many if not most alternative
physicians guilty of unprofessional conduct merely for being alternative.
Thus, thé protection provided by subsection 4 would have been largely read
out of the statute by the interpretation given to sﬁbsectio_n 16.
Thaf the mere good faith use in an alternative practice of a device later
determined to be inefficacious cannot be a violation of sﬁbsection 16 is also
supported by other parts of RCW 18.130.180. Under subsections 1 and 4, the
I(nowing use of an inefﬁcécious device and the negligent use of such a device
if the use creates an “unreasonable risk”of harm are prohibited. What would
a prohibition of the use of such a device under subsection 16 add to these

prohibitions? What it would add, if the panel’s interpretation is accepted, is

strict liability. But strict liability for such a use would have two absurd

consequences. The first we have aireédy mentioned: it would severiy deter
| the use of alternatiffe rﬁodalities despite RCW 18.130.180(4). The second
‘would pbtentially affect conventional rhedicihe' il’.l ways it could not tolerate.

' Suppoée, for example, that a physiciaﬁ comes across a noninvasive
remedy having anecdotal evidence of efﬁcacfy and, after fully informing th¢m
of the nature of thevevidence, recommends it to patients who have no other
treatment option. Later, after the remedy develops some popularity, it is
subjected to rigorqus clinical trials and found to be no better than a placebo.

The physician then abandons it. But has he violated subsection 16 for trying
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' something out which seems to work for a condition that does not respond to

any accepted treatment, and which seems to have little downside. Surely, the
physician has not acted unprofessionally. But the panel’-s interpretation of
subsection 16 would make his conduct “unprofessional,” because he
recommended and charged for the remedy. This is an absurd consequence.?

The Meaning of “Promotion” and “Personal Gain.” The section
does nof literally prohibit the “use” of an inefﬁcapious deviée. It prohibits
“promotion” of the device and only when “for personal gain” —which implies
a commercial, not a professional act. Professional use of such dex;ices canbe
handled under subsections 1 and 4. Physicians, as entrepreneurs, and
consultants to and salespersons for drug, medical equipment and supplement
companies, frequently promote medical products to the consuming public.
Subsection 16 is éonﬁnéd to this kind of situation.

Promotion and Personal Gain in this Case — Even
if the Subsection is Held to Apply to a Medical Practice

Nor is there a chance in a million that a medical board would prosecute — unless he were

an alternative physician. The hypothesized situation is not materially different from the
everyday practice of using devices and treatments “off label.” These devices and
treatments, although approved or cleared by the FDA for a different use, have not been
determined to be effective for the “off label” use. In many cases, the “off label” use will
eventually be shown to be inefficacious by rigorous studies. But will the thousands or
hundreds of thousands of conventional physicians who have employed it for the
inefficacious use be prosecuted under subsection 16? Not on your life. Such an
interpretation would be recognized as inadmissible, unless, perhaps, the physician was an
alternative physician.
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Even if merely recommending a treatment some times suggested by |
a test “promotes” a device used in the test, there was no evidence tﬁat Dr.
Ames derived aﬁy personal gain from using the device with P1. Despite the
finding to the contrary, there was no evidénce._that P1 was charged for the
alleged egg allergf treatment. P1 did not so testify. Nor did DOH produce
any statement, bill or other record reflecting such a charge. DOH inade P1's
chart an exhibit. See CR 1932-1982. But it shdws no such a charge. Indeed,
the chart notes for July 10, 2001, when P1 was allegedly treated for the egg
allergy, report no such treafrﬁent. CR 1932. |

The panel does not find that Dr. Ames charged patients for using the
LISTEN device. Nor does it find noncrédible his testimony that he charged
patients the same fee whether he used it or not. There wés no evidence‘ or
finding to the contrary. To be sure, use of the device did make it possible for
Dr. Ames to speed up the testing of possible allergéns. But that does not

mean that he thereby made more money. That is wholly speculative. >

V. THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE
FINDING OF AN UNREASONABLE RISK OF HARM

There was no evidence that use of the device in any way increased his income,
that he thought it did or that his purpose in using it was to do so. The fact that it speeded
up the allergen checking process does not mean that Dr. Ames thereby saw more patients
and thereby made more money because of the LISTEN. The sessions may have been just
as long, more might have been covered and yet the charge would have been the same. In
other words, the evidence did not support a finding of “promotion for personal gain” in
P1's case, even if charging a professional fee for treatment qualifies as “personal gain.”
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~ If Dr. Ames is correct, to find a violation of RCW 18.130.180(4) or
(16), requires clear and convincing evidence that he ¢ither harmed, or created
an uﬁeasonabie risk of harm to, P1. The panel first responds asserting that
Dr. Ames’s treatment is not “nontraditional,” fmplying that, therefore, a
showing of harm or unreasonable risk of harm is unnecessary. See CR 1862;
1 1.28. Second, it simply asserts an unreasonable risk to P1. CR 1862.

The finding that Dr. Ames’s treatments are not “nontraditional”
cannot be taken seriously. It ié clear on its face that Dr. Ames’s practice is an
alternative, holistic, not a conventional, practice and that is all that is meant
by “nontraditional.” Sée the legislative history of RCW 18.130.180(4),
supra, at p. 26 The panel’s éwn ﬁridings recognize that Dr. Ames is a |

~holistic physician and the legislative hiétory describes this as
“nontraditional.” Ibid, CR 1854; App.‘ 3, 91.1.

Nor is there sufficient evidence or appropriate factual ﬁndiﬁgs to
support a finding/conclusion that Dr. Ames by using the LISTEN creatéd an
unreasonable risk of harm to P1. The finding is ‘phat such a risk was created
by reh}ing on an inefficacious device, providing an ineffective treatrnént, and
misinforming P1 that he had been cured.CR 1862, 91.29. But, first, the
evidence was that Dr. Ames relied on the RAST blood test, not on the |
LISTEN. Second, t\-NO ﬁndings on which tﬁe ultimate finding of unreasonable

risk is based — the finding that the trearment was ineffective and the finding
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that P1 was told that he had been cured — were not in the statement of charges
and therefore are invalid. See CR 2545. AH that the relevant sections of the
Amended Statément say is that Patient Oné had various lab tests, was muscle
tested with the aid of thé LISTEN and thét he was told that Dr. Ames thought
he could do what the device did. This gave notice that DOH was challenging
the muscle testing with the LISTEN — a form of assessment, és 1.2 of the
Amended Statement charged — but not the treatment, Whichv was the
acupressure, or a prognésis of cure. Such allegations could have been added -
when the Amendment Statément or the pre-haring sttement was drafted, but
they were not. Third, there is no evidence that the treatment itself was
iﬁefféctive. Nor is that a reasonable inference from the finding that ‘;he
paﬁent did not have an egg allergy. If he did not have the allergy, thére was-
nothing to treat; but that does not mean that if thére had been an allergy, the
treatmem could not have been effective.

F ourth; there is no evidence of what the risk of harm is. There is _only :
assertion of unreasonable risk. Ifthe panel were right and P1 did not havé an
allergy, telling him after the treatment that he did not havé an egg allergy .was
;:orrect and reliance on the statement could cause no harm. If the claim is that
a false positive from the muscle testing created an unreaspnable risk of harm,
theré are two respénses. First,r false positives are éommén among even

conventional assessment devices and procedures, and thusin themselves
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could not be unreasonable risks. Second, by telling P1 that he had an egg
allergy when, by hypothesis he did not, the only effect would be that he either
wouid or would not continue to eat something he was already eating. Neither
of these options created a new risk for him. That is a defining characteristic
of alternative health care: it is noninvasive and so if it doesn’t work theie
is .litﬂe if any harm, unlike conventional medicine with its invasive drugs,
surgery, radiation, eic.

IfRCW 18.130.180(4) is to have any meaning, the courts — justasthe
legislatnre in RCW 18.120.010 — must insist on hard evidence of real, not
mannfactureii or speculative risk of harm. See RCW 18.120.010 (health care |
should not be regulated unless “the pntential for the harm is easily
recognizable and not remote or dependent upon tenuous argument”). It is .
always possi:tile fovr an orthodox provider to say of a supi)osedly inefficacious
Or unnecessary (rend: “alternative”) modality — as it has always been said oi‘
alteinative healih care — that it creatés an umeasonnble risk because patients
may rely on the alternative and forego or delay a conifentional modality that
might have helped them (if there were a conventional treatment whose
beneﬁts clearly outweighed' its side effééts, itis unlikely that the patient
would seek the alternative or that the alternative practitioner would

recommend it). Thus, if the protection for alternatives is to be effective, a

ﬁnding of harm or unreasonable risk of harm must be based on hard
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evidence, not convenient, boilerplate speculation, that an. inefficacious

. modality might cause harm because it is inefficacious. There was no such

evidence of any risk of harm in this case.

V1. = THE SANCTIONS ORDERED BY THE PANEL
WERE A MANIFEST ABUSE OF DISCRETION

The panel found that Dr. Ames purchased and used the LISTEN in
godd faith. It found that he had nét acted fraudulently or immorally and that
he had not violated the FDCA. There was subétantial aneédotal evidence tﬂat
the device .Worked. - The evidence on negligence and inefficacy was
essentially one anec;dotal experience recounted by one patient who was not

complaining about the use of the device. On these facts, the sanctions ordered

were a manifest abuse of discretion. See Olmstead v. Départment of Health,
61 Wn.App. 888, 812 P.2d 527 (1991) (“such order on these findings was
arbitrary and capricious™)? |

CONCLUSION
From the beginning of this action through the entry of the final order,

this has been an ideological, result-oriented attempt by rearguard elements in

the Medical Commission to suppress an alternative modality irrespective of

No suspension and no fine could-be warranted. Nor could any monitoring of the sort
ordered. This is especially so, because of the dangers of putting an alternative physician
under the monitoring authority of a board comprised entirely of conventional practitioners
and lay people who look to them for expertise. Such monitoring will inhibit the use of
alternative modalities, contrary to state policy. See RCW 18.130.180(4) and 18.120.010.
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evidence and procedure and the rules for construing sfatutes. The Court

should reverse and vacate the Order and admonish the Commission that it |

will not be permitted to so grossly abuée the discretion entrusted to it.
Respectfully submitted this Sth day of July, 2006.

LAW OFFICES OF
WILLIANMAR. BISHIN, P.S

illiam R. Bishin / W3BA No. 8386
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STATE OF WASHINGTON
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH .
MEDICAL QUALITY ASSURANCE COMMISSION

In the Matter of the License to Practice ) o FiLED
As a Physician and Surgeon of: ) Docket No. 02-06-A-1012MD »
o _ ) L 10 200
GEOFFREY S. AMES,MD ) STATEMENT OF CHARGES . pgy,q, cethe Clork
 ‘License No. MD00026961 ) diticg "

)

Respondent. )

)

The Program Manager of the Medical Qilélity Assurance Commission, (Commission), on
designation 'by the Commission, makes the allegations below, which are supportéd by evidence .
contained in program case file 2001-08-0007MD. Any patients referred to in this Statemeﬁt of
Charges are identified in an attached Confidential Schedule,

Section 1: ALLEGED FACTS
1.1 Geoffrey S. Ames, MD, Respondent, was issued a license to practice as a physician
- by the state of Washington in December 1989. |

1.2 On or about July 10, 2001, Respondent tested Patient One for food allergies using
an electro-diagnostic device called the Life Information System Ten device (LISTEN device). |
Respondent later admitted to a Department of Health representative that he uses the LISTEN device
to defcct food allergies in patients. ' '

1.3 The LISTEN device uses low voltage to measure galvanic skin resistance.

1.4 The LISTEN device is a medical device under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic
Act,21 US.C. § 321(h). A medical device may not be marketed until there is either an approved
application for premarket approval, pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 3606 or an approved apbliéation for an
investigational device exemptlon, pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 360j(g). There is no approved
application for premarket approval or mvestlganonal device exemption for the LISTEN devxce

1.5 A manufacturer is exempt from the requirements in the above paragraph if it fles a

- pre-market notification under section 21 U.S.C. § 360(k), and the Food and Drug Adminisization
(FDA) rules the device is “substantially equivalent” toa device already on the market. This is

_known as receiving “510(k) approval.”

STATEMENT OF CHARGES - PAGE l of3 -
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1.6 In 1996, the FDA granted “510(k) approval” for the Digital Conductance Meter to
be used for relaxation training in the biofeedback process. '

1.7 The FDA has not granted “510(k) approval” for the LISTEN device.

18 Although a (;omponent of the LISTEN device is a digital conductance meter, the
LISTEN is different in several significant respects, including using different software, and is,
theréfore, anew device, which must meet the requirernents listed in paragraph 1.4, above.

1.9 Commercial distribution of a device prior to obtaining an approved aﬁplication for
premarket approval or an investigational device exemption, or receiving “510(k) approval® results
in the device being adulterated under 21 U.S.C. § 351(f)(1)(®).

1.10 By receiving an adulterated device in interstate commerce, Respondent has violated
21US.C. § 331(c). |

1.11 EQen if the “510(k) approval” for the digital conductance meter applied to the
LISTEN device, Respondent did not use the digital éonductance meter for its approved purpose.

1.12 The LISTEN device is a medical device under RCW 69.04.010. The use of an
adulterated or misbranded device is prohibited under RCW 69.04.040(1) and (3).

Section 2: ALLEGED VIOLATIONS
2.1  The violations alleged in this séction constitute grounds for disciplinary‘action,
pursuant to RCW 18.130.180 and the imposition of sanctions ﬁnder iS.I 30.160.
2.2~ The facts alleged in paragraphs 1.2 through 1.12 constitute unprofessional cdnduct
in violation of RCW 18.130. 180(7), which pfovides in part:

- (7) Violation of any state or federal statute or administrative rule
regulating the profession in question, including any statute or rule
defining or establishing standards of patient care or professional
conduct or practice. '

n
/"

I

I
Y.

/I
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Section 3: NOTICE TO RESPONDENT
The charges in this document affect the public health, safety and welfare. The Program
Manager of the Commission directs that a notice be issuéd and served on Respondent as provided
by law, giving Respondent the opportunity to defend against these charges. If Respondent fails to
defend against these charges, Respondent shall be subject to discipline, pursuant to RCW
18.130.180 and the imposition of sanctions under 18.130.160. —

DATED this_ 9% dayof ] .. ly 2002

STATE OF WASHINGTON |
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH
MEDICAL QUALITY ASSURANCE COMMISSION

()//M&;f

é/ se. 7 go ##
. D1501p11nary Manager
T M LaughinwsBE #2734 q
Assistant Attorng' General Prosecutor
[ FORINTERNAL USE ONLY. INTERNAL TRACKING NUMBERS: Program No._2001-08-0007MD
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STATE OF WASHINGTON : FILED

: DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH _
MEDICAL QUALITY ASSURANCE COMMISSION FEB 05 2003
‘ | Adjudicative Clerk Offipg
In the Matter of the License to Practice ) :
As a Physician and Surgeon of: ) Docket No. 02-06-A-1012MD
)
GEOFFREY S. AMES, MD . ) FIRST AMENDED STATEMENT
License No. MD00026961 S ) OF CHARGES
| Respondent. )
)

* The Program Manager of the Medical Quaility Assurance Commission, (Commission), on
designation by the Commission, makes the allegations below, which are supported by evidence
contained in prograin case file 2001-08-0007MD. Any patients referred to in this First Amended
Statement of Charges are identified in an attached Conﬁdentlal Schedule.

Section 1: ALLEGED FACTS
1.1  Geoffrey S. Ames, MD, Respondent was issued a license to practice as a physician
by the state of Washington in December 1989. A

" 1.2 Onorabout July 10, 2001, Respondent tested Patient One for fooci allergies using
an electro-diagnostic device called the Life Information System Ten device (LISTEN device).
Respondent later admitted to a Department of Health representative that he uses th¢ LISTEN device
to detect food allergies in patients. ‘

13 The LISTEN device uses low voltage to measure galvanic skin resistance.

1.4 The LISTEN device is a medical device uh_der the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic -
Act, 21 US.C. § 321(h). A medical device may not be marketed until there is either an approved |
application for premarket approval, pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 360e, or an approved application for an
investigational device exemption, pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 360j(g). There is no approved
épplication for premarket approval or investigational device exemption for the LISTEN device. |

1.5 - A manufacturer is exempt from the requirements in the above paragraph if it files a
pre-market notification under section 21 U.S.C. § 3'60(k), and the Food and Drug Administration -
(FDA) rules the device is “substantially equivalent” td a device already on the market. This is

known as receiving “510(k) approval.”
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1.6 In 1996, the FDA granted “510(k) approval” for the Digital'Conductance Meter to
be used for -relaxation training in the biofeedback process. ‘

1.7 The FDA has not granted “510(k) approval” for the LISTEN device.

1.8 Although a component of the LISTEN device is a digital conductance meter, the
LISTEN is different in several significant respects, including using different software, and is,
therefore, a new device, which must meet the requirements listed in paragraph 1.4, above.

1.9  Commercial distribution of a device prior to obtaining an approved application for
premarket approval or an investigational device exendption, or receiving “510(k) approval” results
in the device being adulterated under 21 U.S.C. § 351(f)}(1)(B). |

1.10 By receiving an adulterated device in interstate commerce, Respondent has ﬁolated

21 U.S.C. §331(c). '
| 1.11  Evenifthe “510(k) approval” for the digital conductance meter applied to the
~ LISTEN device, Respondent did not use the digital conductance meter for its approved purpose.
1.12 The LISTEN device is a med1ca1 device under RCW 69.04.010. The use of an _
'adulterated or misbranded device is prohibited under RCW 69.04.040(1) and (3).
1.13  On or about June 6, 2001, Respondent saw Patient One oomplaining of chronic
fatigue. Respondent ordered urine and blood tests and hair analysis. -
1.14  On or about July 10, 2001, Patient One returned to see Respondent to discuss the
| test results. Respondent told Patient One that the blood tests showed a number of food allergies.
Respondent then used the LISTEN device on Patient One. Respondent had Patient One lie down
on a table and hold his left arm straight up in the air. Respondent then asked Patient Onetotry to
resist when Respoﬁdent attempted to push his arm down. Reépondent pushed on Patient One’s arm
but did not push it down. Respondent tHeri had Patient One hold a brass rod in his hand, which was
connected to the LISTEN device, and typed in “eggs” into the device. Respondent asked Patient
" One to hold his left arm up in the air and to try to resist when Respondent attempted to push his arm
down. Respondent then pushed Patient One’s arm down and told Patient One that this showed he
was allergic to eggs. Respondent repeated the test, but placed a piece of paper over the brass rod.

" When Patient One asked Respondent why he placed a'piece of paper over the brass rod,
Respondent told him he could emit the EMF frequency for eggs and many other foods through
telepathy, so he hardly needed the device anymore. '

FIRST AMENDED STATEMENT OF CHARGES - PAGE 2 of 4
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Section 2: ALLEGED VIOLATIONS
2.1  The violations alleged in this section constitute grounds for disciplinaIy action,
pursuant to RCW 18.130.180 and the imposition of sanctions under 18.130.160.
2.2 The facts alleged in paragraphs 1.2 through 1.14 constitute unprofessional conduct

in violation of RCW 18.130.180(1), (7), and (16)which provides in part:

(1) The commission of any act involving moral turpitude,
dishonesty, or corruption relating to the practice of the person's
profession, whether the act constitutes a crime or not.

(4) Incompetence, negligence, or malpractice which results in injury
to a patient or which creates an unreasonable risk that a patient may
be harmed. The use of a nontraditional treatment by itself shall not
constitute unprofessional conduct, provided that it does not result in
injury to a patient or create an unreasonable risk that a patient may
be harmed. ' '

(7) Violation of any state or federal statute or administrative rule
regulating the profession in question, including any statute or rule
defining or establishing standards of patient care or professional
conduct or practice. '

The statutes Respondent violated are 21 U.S.C. § 331(c) and RCW
69.04.040(1) and (3), which provide as follows:

Sec. 331. - Prohibited acts .
The following acts and the causing thereof are prohibited:

(c) The receipt in interstate commerce of any food, drug, device, or |
cosmetic that is adulterated or misbranded, and the delivery or proffered
delivery thereof for pay or otherwise. :

RCW 69.04.040 Prohibited acts:
The following acts and the causing thereof are hereby prohibited:

(1) The sale in intrastate commerce of any food, drug, device, or
cosmetic that is adulterated or misbranded.

(2) The adulteration or misbranding of any food, drug, device, or
cosmetic in intrastate commerce.

(3) The receipt in intrastate commerce of any food, drug, device, or
cosmetic that is adultérated or misbranded, and the sale thereof in such
commerce for pay or otherwise. ’

(16) Promotion for personal gain of any unnecessary or inefficacious
drug, device, treatment, procedure or service.

FIRST AMENDED STATEMENT OF CHARGES - PAGE 3 of 4
Docket No. 02-06-A-1012MD

000062 ‘



Section 3: NOTICE TO RESPONDENT
‘The charges in this document affect the public health, safety and welfare. The Pxogram
Manager of the Commission directs that a notice be issued and served on Réspondent as provided
by law, giving Respondent the opportunity to defend against these charges.‘ If Respondent fails to
defend against these charges, Respondent shall be subject to discipline, pursuant to RCW
18.130.180 and the mlposmon of sanctions under 18.130.160.

'DATED this 5 day of&g&%%%.

STATE OF WASHINGTON
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH
MEDICAL QUALITY ASSURANCE COMMISSION

;(Zm%D Qewilosy

Keith Armstrong WSBA #2379
Assistant Attorney General Prosecutor

| FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY. INTERNAL TRACKING NUMBERS: Program No. 2001-08-0007MD
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STATE OF WASHINGTON
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH
MEDICAL QUALITY ASSURANCE COMMISSION

In the Matter of the License to Practice ) ,
‘as a Physician and Surgeon of' ) Docket No. 02-06-A-1012MD
) ' 4
GEOFFREY S. AMES, M D. ) FINDINGS OF FACT,
License No. MD00026961 ) CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
) AND FINAL ORDER
Respondent. ) '
)

APPEARANCES:

Respondent, Geoffrey S. Ames, M.D.
William Bishin, Attorney at Law

Department of Health, by
The Office of Attorney General, per
Keith D. Armstrong, Assistant Attorney General
COMMISSION PANEL:  Cabell Tennis, J. D., Public Member, Panel Chair
Jan Paxton, PA-C, Pro Tem
Sunanda Uberoi, M.D.
PRESIDING OFFICER Arthur E. DeBusschere, Health Law Judge
The Medical Quallty Assurance Commission (the Commission) convened a
heanng on January 13-16,,2004 and February 10, 2004. The Department's post-
hearing brief was submitted to the Commission on February 25, 2004. The
Commission deliberated on March 10, 2004 |
The Department of Health issued First Amended Statement of Charges alleging
that the Respondent had violated the Uniform Disciplinary Act. License Suspended. _

Stayed.

FINDINGS OF FACT,
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW : :
AND FINAL ORDER o Page 1 of 20
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ISSUES
Whether the Respondent engaged in unprofessional conduct within the meaning

of RCW 18. 130 180(1) (4), (7) and (16).
If the Department proves unprofessional conduct, whAat are the appropriate

sanctions under RCW 18.130.1607°

SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE
In considefation of this matter, the Commission heard over‘thirty-tﬁree hours of
testimo-ny and oral argument.A The Department presented testimony of the fc;llowing
| witnesses: GeoffreylAmes, M.D. (the Respondent); Patient One; Richard Sherman,
Ph.D.; and Neil-Odgen. The Respondent testified on his behalf and presented
testimony of the folléwing witn‘e-_sses: Donald Volkman; Joén McVey; James Clark; and
- David Martin, M.D. The Departm-ent’s had Mo exhibits admitted, which were numbered
.as Department's Exhibit No. 2 and Department's Exhibit No. 3. The Respondent had
eight exhibits admitted, Respondent's Exhibits Nos. 1-8. o

ANALYSIS :

The Uniform Disciplinary Act (the .UDA) defines what conduct, acts, or conditions
conStitufe unprofessiénal conduct. RCW 18.130.1 80. In' this 6ase, the Department
alleged that the Re’spondent -co'mmi_tted four violations under the UDA, specifically
RCW 18.130.180(1), (4), (7) and (16). '

First, thé Department alleged.the Respohdent’s conduct was unprofessional
under RCW 18.130.180(1), unprbfessional conduct is defined in part as:

The commission of any act lnvolvmg moral turpitude, dishonesty, or
corruption relating to the practice of the person's professmn whether the
FINDINGS OF FACT,

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW .
AND FINAL ORDER Page 2 of 20,
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act constitdtes a crime or not. _
| RCW 18.130.180(1). -During the hearing, the Commission granted the Respondent's
~ motion to dismiss the alleged violation under RCW 18.130.180(1).
- Second, the Department alleged the Respondent’s'conduct was unprofessional
under RCW 18.130.180(4), which is defined as:
~ Incompetence, negligence, or malpradtice which results in injury to a
patient or which creates an unreasonable risk that a patient may be
harmed. The use of a nontraditional treatment by itself shall not constitute
unprofessional conduct, provided that it does not result in injury to a
patient or create an unreasonable risk that a patient may be harmed;
* RCW 18.130.1 80(4).

Expert testimony is helpful, but not essential to the Department's case, nor would

the lack of such testimony either support or require dismissal of the charges against -

Respondent. Johnston v. Washington State Medical Disciplinary Board, 99 Wn.2d 466,

663 P.2d 457 (1983); B‘royvn,v. State Department of Health, Dental Disciplinary Board,

.94 wn. App.‘?,- 972 P.2d 101 (1998). Based on the thnéton and Brown cases, the

Commiséion can use its own ekpertise to evaluate the standard'of care regarding the

Re.sp.ondent’s actions with Patient One. Nd additional expert ié necessary to resolve

this case. RCW 34.05.461(5). | | |
Third, the Deparfment allege;d the Respondent's conduct was unprofessional

under RCW 18.130.180(7), which is déﬁned as:v | |
Violation of any state or federal statute or administrati?e rule regulating
- the profession in question, including any statute or rule definingor

establishing standards of patient care or professional conduct or practice;

RCW 18.130.180(7). Spebiﬁcally, the Department charged the Respondent for violating

a federal code, 21 U.S.C. §'331(c), which provides as follows: ‘

FINDINGS OF FACT,
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW S
AND FINAL ORDER Page 3 of 20
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Sec. 331. - Prohibited acts - |
The following acts and the causing thereof are hereby prohibited:

ic.)’fhe receipt in intrastaté commerce of any food, drug,
device, or cosmetic that is adulterated or misbranded, and the
delivery or proffered delivery thereof for pay or otherwise.
The Department also charged the Respondent for violating a state statute,
RCW 69.04.040(1) and (3), which provides as follows:

The following acts and the causing thereof are hereby prohibited:
(1) The sale in intrastate commerce of any food, drug, device, or

cosmetic that is adulterated or misbranded.
(3) The receipt in intrastate commerce of any food, drug, device, or

cosmetic that is adulterated or misbranded, and the sale thereof in such
commerce for pay or otherwise.

This statute is similar to the above federal code, 21 U.S.C. § 331‘(0). The facts that ,
would apply to the\é federal code would apply as well to the allegations under
RCW 69.04.040, regarding the LISTEN de\jice being adulterated or misbranded.

| In this case, Mr. Ogden did not know about the LISTEN device that was
purchased by the Respbndent. Likewise, Dr. Sherman not only did not know about the
LISTEN dévice, but élso had not seen or evaluated it. In addition, there was no |
evidence that the manufactﬁrer or the Respondent made significant changes to the
LISTEN device that it thereby became aduiterated. There was no evidence that the
Respondent mislabeled the LISTEN device; thus, there was',n.o evidence that it was
misbranded. Finally, the Department féiled to offer evidence that the ,Respohdent
delivéred or offered it for delivery to someone else for pay. During the hearihg, the
- Cormmission granted fhe Respondent's motion to dismisslthe allegation of
unprofessional conduct under RCW 18.130.1 80(7) |
FINDINGS OF FACT,
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Fourth, the Department alleged the Respondent’s conduct was unprofessional

under RCW 18.130.180(16), which is defined as:

Promotion for personal gain of any -Linneeessary or inefficacious drug,
device, treatment, procedure, Or service;

RCW 18.130.180(16).' '

DUrin_g fhe hearing, the Commission heard and observed the testimony of Patient
One and the Respondent.. The Commission finds Patient One credible When he
testified about his yiei_tls‘y\‘/‘ith_;anrd treatment by the Respondent on June 6, 2001 and
_July 11, 2001. 'l:ﬁe:Commission did not ﬂh‘d the:Resppndeﬁtvcredible when he testified

about his treatment of Patient One on these dates. 'RCW 34.05.461.

I FlNDiNGS OF FACT
1.1 Geoffrey,S. Ames, M.D., the Respondent, was issued by the state of
| Washington in December 1989, a license to practice as a physician and surgeon. The
Respondent completed a pathology residency. He eompleted a year of internal
medicine training. He started a family practice in Gardnerville, Neveda. The |
Respondent is board-bertiﬁed in hqlistic nﬁedicine. The Respondent took an |
aCupuncture course at UCLA, San Francisco. Since 1995, he has been practicingas a -
physician in Richland, Wa'shingtovn. The Respoﬁdeﬁf’e practice inelﬁdes the fol‘IoWing
specialties: NAl'ET1 allergy therapy, JMT allergy therapy, neuromodulation technique

-allergy therapy, acupuncture, acupressure and dermatology.

" NAET stands for Nambudripad Allergy Elimination Technique. Devi S, Nambudripéd developed the
- NAET, which is a technique that treats allergies using acupressure.

FINDINGS OF FACT,

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW :
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1.2 The Life Information System Tens device (the LISTEN device) is a
galvanic skin response machine. The LISTEN device consists of a keyboard, monitof,
a computer with hardware, foot mouse, black box used to create the circuit so an
ohmmeter wnll work. The black box has a wire to a metal probe that is held by the
patient in his/her hand. The LISTEN device is an electronic skin response devnce and it
measures changes in resistance, which is the impediment of a flow of electrical current.
The LISTEN device uses low voltage, a current ofﬁ:\_{e#_%gmf,‘to meaeure galvanic skin
resistance. |

| 1.3 James Clark developed the LISTEN device. On January 7, 1992, he
submitted informetion ona LISTEN device to the United States Food and Drug
| Administration (FDA). The LISTEN system was described as having electrodermal
screening techniques,-altemative. medicine techniques and bioenergetic techniques. .
The device was not cleared with that labeling. It did not receive pre-market approval
since it was not substantially-equivalent to predicate devices siudied by the FDA.

1.4 In Augusf 1992, James Clark hade a submission for the Digital
Conductance Meter (DCM) to clear the ohmmeter and the capability for the Listen
System without the acupuncture claims and to market the L'ISTEN' device The FDA
cleared the DCM as a blofeedback devuce for relaxatlon tramlng The DCM had been
submitted for other uses, but those were removed from the FDA file.

1.5  James Clark has a number of upgraded models that are galvanic skin
response devices. They are called the Orion, the Pegasus and the Mira. These
upgraded devices have the same hardware as the LISTEN device; they beth have the
FINDINGS OF FACT,
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ohm}neter, computer software and the signal generator. The only differe.nce between
~ the LISTEN device and the later devices was that the LISTEN device was-a DOS-
operated system while these upgraded devices were a WINDCWS based system. |
1.6  In 1996, James Clark obtained clearance from the FDA for the Orion, the
Pegasus and the Mira. In 1996, the FDA notified him that his devices (the Orion, the
| Pegasus and the Mira) were substantially équivalent toa predicéte device, which
permitted hih to proceed to market the devices. Jam'eAs Clark received a pre-market
“‘clearance,” not a pre-market “approval.” Nevertheless, .he could not market the
| devices as being clearédi because the public might think that the FDA had approved
~ them. . o
1.7 The Respondent does-not know the physics behind the LISTEN device,
nor did he know the voltage or amperage that the LISTEN devicé produces. The
Respohdent understands the LISTEN device functions lilfe a biofeedback maghupe bﬁt
it is used in different ways. He used it ln combination wifh kinesiology. Kinesiology is
based on the theory that an imbalance in acupuncture meridians will make muscles
weak. The Respondent learned kinesiology from a NAET course. |
1.8  The Reébondent heard about _the LISTEN device from colleagues, from
vendors and frométtending conferences of the American 'Academy of Environmental
Médicine. The Respondent has oWned the LISTEN device since 1997, when he ~bought
it from the company owned by James Clark. The LISTEN device was made in Utah.
1.9  The Respondent le‘a‘r'ned to operate the LISTEN device from his
colleagues and}from the manual, which told him how to operate it. The manual did not
FINDINGS OF FACT, |
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make any claims on its use and provided basic instructions on how to turn it on and off.
The LISTEN device had no labeling on it. -

110 He also sent his office nurse to a course to leamn about the LISTEN
de\(ice. The nurs'e'leamed how to use it for Electrodermal Screening (EDS). Onone
hand, this was not helpﬂﬂ because he does not do EDS. On the other hand, it was
helpful because it increased his understénding and. knowledge about the d.evice. The
Respondent obtained ihformafion about the LISTEN/device from others colleagues, (

including Dr. Nambudnpad who uses a machine snmllarto it, but who purchased it from %
)}

a different manufacturer I {

1.11 Before the Respondent purchased the LISTEN device, he talked with .
James Clark whovinformed him that it was registered with the FDA. The Respondent
purchased a device that could be sold to him by the manufacturer. The Respbndent

purchased the LISTEN device in good faith.

1.12 Although the Respondent doés not charge his patients specifically for its

use, the Respondent bills his patients for visits that include the LISTEN device's use.

The device helps in his assessment and speeds up his patient visits. When he sees a
patient, the LISTEN device is part of the whole picture of assessment and treatment.
1.13 The Respondent saw Patient One on two occasions: June 6, 2001 and

July 10, 2001. At the initial visit, Patient One informed the Respondent that he had

been tired. Just before the initial visit, Patient One filled out a health history provided by

the Respohd_ent. Patient One described the symptoms that he felt the day of the initial

visit. . Patient One felt fatigue and experienced sluggishness and that these symptoms
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were severe. Patient One frequently tired easily and felt weak He expenenced apathy
’and lethargy and the symptoms were severe.

1.14 At the initial visit, the Respondent discussed metal toxictty and metal
| poisoning with Patient One. The Respondent talked about his alternative medicine
practice and informed Patient One that he would send him to the Tri-Cities laboratory
for blood and urine testlng The Respondent took a halr sample The first visit Iasted
about 30 to 45 minutes.

1.15 During the seoond visit on July 10, 2001, the Respondent reviewed
| Patient One's laboratory tests results The Respondent-reported to Pati'ent One that he
had a mlneral imbalance, mineral det" iciencies, and that his testosterone level should be
higher.' He reported that- Patient One might have some metal poisoning which would
contribute to the t|redness He informed Patlent One that he should. undergo treatment
for the metal poisoning. The Respondent also informed Patient One that foods llke
eggs and mustard could be weakenlng his body. |

1.16 The Respondent informed Patient One that he had a machine that could -
be used to f nd out what was going on'with his body. The machine that the Respondent
was referring to was the LISTEN device. The Respondent informed Patient One that
he would place a probe in his hand and the probe was connected to the LISTEN
device. The Respondent informed Patient One that the LISTEN device helped him
make a .diagnosi's. The Respondent informed Patient One that he could cure the egg

. allergy and that eggs would not bother him again.
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1.17  Before using the LISTEN device, the Respondent assessed the strength
of Patient One's deltoid muscle to obtain a baseline. The Respondent had Patlent One
lie on his back. The Respondent put the probe in Patlent One's right hand and raised
Patient'One's rightarm to a 90 degree peint from his body. Patient One had a ring on
hie left-hand and on nis'right wrist he wore a watch. The Respondent asked Patient -
One to resist as hard as he could while the Respondent tried to pull h|s arm down next
to Patlent One's body. During thls test, Patient One resisted pretty well and Patient

One's resistance was strong.

1.18 The Respondent used the LISTEN device when he conducted the next”

muscle assessment. While Patient One was still lying on his back, the Respondent put

the probe in Patient One’s right hand and raised Patient One’s right arm to a 90 deQree

_ point from his body. This time the Respondent had the LISTEN device operating and,

using the keyboard, he typed in the word “eggs." The Respondent again asked
Patient One to resist as hard as he could while the Reepondent tried to pull-Patient
One's arm down. This time the Respondent was then able to easily pull Patient One's
arm down. When this occurred, the Responeent informed Patient One that he could
pull his arm down, because his body had been comprorniSed due to the egg allergy.

1.19 Next, for the treatment, the Respo‘ndent had Patient One roll over on his.
stomach and the Respohdent thumped Patient O.ne on his back with an acupressure
device. The device had rubber tips on it like a plungef. While the Respondent

thumped Patient One on his back, he mentioned acupressure:
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1.20 = After the acupressure treatment, the Respondent assessed whether it
affected the muscles. The Respondent had Patient One roll over on his back again and
the Respondent gave Patient One the probe that was connected to the LISTEN device.
The Respondent had Patient One raised his arm to a 90 degree position and the
procedure was repeated. The Respondent could not pull Patient One’s arm down. The
Respondent then said “See, it's gone.” » | .

1.21 After the Respondent used the LISTEN device, the Respondent
performed an final assessment. _The Respondent wrapped the probe in tissue paper
- and then had Patient One hold the probe with the tissue paper wrapped around it.
Patient One asked him why he dld this. The Respondent answered that he has done
this so long, that he could do what the machine could do, and that he dld not need the
machine anymore.

1.22 After this series of assessments and treatment, the_Respondent advised
Patient One that he should not eat any eggs for 24 hours or perhaps 48 hours or the
treatment would not take' Patient One understooid that the Respondent had diagnosed :
that he was allerglc to eggs, that the Respondent provided treatment and that the
'Respondent cured him of his egg allergy. Patient One understood that he would be
able to’ eat eggs and would have no allergic reaction.

1.23 In 1976-80, Patient One had been diagnosed by another health care
_ practitioner that he was allergic to blowing dust and pollens for which Patient One took

shots to help relieve the symptoms. He had also been diagnosed with hay fever, with
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-
resulting symptoms of ‘resp'iratory difficulties, feeling plugged-up, sinus drainage, and
itching of. eyes. |

1.24 Atthe end of the second visit, the Respondent informed Patient One that
he could only treat one ellergy ata tim_e and that he would need to come in for
additional visits to treat each allergy. The Respondent wrote out some prescn'ptions
and suggested that the Respondent sngn up for addltlonal treatments. The Respondent
prescnbed testosterone, DHEA, multi-mineral vutamms and a low glycemic index diet to
be followed by a Metabolic typing diet. '

. | 125 As a physician, the Respondent used the LISTEN Vdevi'ce to treat Patient
One for an egg allergy.- The LISTEN device was inefficacious and did not cure an egg
allergy. The LISTEN devnce did not provxde any manner of treatment or assessment

_Before the Respondent S assessment and treatment for an egg allergy, Patient One
had not been diagnosed to be allergic to eggs or mustard or any food allergies. There
was no clinical evidence to support the Respondent's assessment and treatment that
Patient One had an egg allergy. Before his visit with the Respondent Patlent One had

_not been advnsed that he was allergic to eggs and had no reaction to eatmg eggs, |
except that h.e does not like to eat them. |

1.26 The Respo.ndent prombted the use of the LISTEN device in his practice
and for his own personal gain. He informed Patient One that he uses it for treatment.
He billed Patient One for his treatment, which included using the LISTEN device. The

Respondent was able to speed up his assessment and treatment by us‘ing it. He
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suggested to Patient One to return for‘additional treatments so he can treat each
individual allergy.
- 1.27 _ As a physician, the. Respondent failed to take the necessary safety
| measures to ensure that the LISTEN device wouldv eot be harmenl_to his patients. The |
'Respondent obtained no literatureor had ne labeling on the LISTEN device, and he did
not receive any personal training on its use.. The Respondent only liste'n'ed to his
colleagues end te a salesperson. The Respondent did not know the voitage or
| amperage that the LISTEN de\I/ice produces. |
| 1.28 The Respondent's use of the LISTEN device, an inefficacious device,
precluded him from making as a physician an appropriate diagnosis and treatment. By
using his credentials as physician, the Respondent took advantage of Patient One to
use an inefficacious device to allegedly assess, treat and cure an egg alleréy. By using
the LISTEN device .in his assessment and treatment of Patient One on July 16 2001 for
an egg allergy, the Respondent was negligent in his practlce asa phySIClan The
Respondent's use of the LISTEN deVIce was not nontraditional treatment. |
1.29 Making a false medical diagnosis through the use of an inefficacious
device, providing \ig_,_ip.eff_eeije treetmeet, end misinforrhing Patient One that he had
been cured, the Respondent eubjected h|m to unreasonable risk of harm. The ‘
Respondent’s reliance on the LISTEN device, an ineffi cacnous devnce created an
unreasonable risk of harm to Patient One.
i
I
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Il. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

21 The Co'mmission.has jurisdiction over the Respondent’s license and over
the sdbject maﬁer of thié.proceeding. RCW 18.71; RCW 18.130.

2.2 The Washington Supreq_*ne Cdurt has held that the standard of proof in
disciplinary pi'oceedings against phyéicians before the Washington State Medical
Quality Assurance Commission is proof by clear and convincing eyidence. Nguyen v.
Departrhent of Health, 144 Wn.2d 516, 534, cert. denied, 535 U.S. 904 (2002).

2.3  Based upon Findings of Fact, Paragraphs 1.1, 1.2 and Paragraphs 1.7

through 1.30.above; along with the above Analysis, the Commission concludes that the -

Department proved by clear and'convin(_:ing evidence that 4Re'spondent Violated
RCW 18.130.180(4) and (16). -
2'4 Based upon Findings of Fact, Parag}raphs 1.1 through 1.6 above, along

| with the above Analysis, the Commission céncludes that the Department failed to prove
by clear and convincing evidence thét Resbondent violated RCW 18.130.180(7). This
charge under RCW 18.130.1 80(7)‘ shall be dismissed.

| 2.5 | Based upon Findings of Fact, along with the abové Analysis, the
Commission concludes that the Department failed to prove by cleér and convincing
evidence that Respondent violated RCW 18.130.180(1). The Respondent purchased
the LISTEN device in good faith. The decision to use an inefﬁéacious device, even ’
though its use resulted in unprofeésional_coﬁduct, aid not constitute an act of moral

turpitude, dishonesty, or corruption. This charge under RCW 18.130.180(1) should be

dismissed.
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2.6 Asaresult of the unprofessional conduct found under
RCW. 18.130.180(4) and (16), the Commission may impose sanctions. The first
consideratidn is the protection of the public. RCW 18.130.160. |

27 Baéed upon the above Findings ofv Fédt Analysis and Concluéions of Law,
the Commission concludes that the Respondent’s llcense should be suspended, but the
suspension should be stayed provided that he complies with the conditions ordered
below. The Respondent should nqt be perrmtted to use the LISTEN device with
patients. The Respondent should pay a fine for his conduct and he should be
| monitored during thié.period of stay_ed éuspension, inc}l'uding a regular review of his
paﬁent records. The Commissioﬁ concludes ihat these conditions are necessary to -

ensure that sufficient safeguards are in place to 'protect the public.

~ lll. ORDER
Based on the foregoing, the Commission hergby issues in this case the following

ORDERS:

3.1 ‘Staved Suspension. The license to practice as a pAhysician and .surgeon
in the state of Washington held by the Respondent, Geoffrey S. Ames, M.D., is
SUSPENDED for a period of at least five (5) years from the date of service of this
Order. The suspension of the Respondent'’s licénse is hereby STAYED, PROVIDED |

that the Respondent complies with the following terms and conditions in this Order.

3.2.  Limitation on Practice. The Respondent shall not use the LISTEN device
to assess for or to treat éllergies. Further, the Respondent shall not have the LISTEN
device fn his medical office(s) where he sees and/or treats patients.
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3.3 Record Revrews Wlthm thirty (30) days from the effective date of thls

Order or as soon thereafter as deemed by the Commrssnon or its designee, the

~ Department shall conduct a review of 10 to 15 patlent records randomly selected, on a
quarterly basis. Aftera compliance hearing in review of this condltion the Commission
at lts discretion may order the record rewews to continue this quarterly review of the
Respondent's records for an additional period as long as the Commission deems it

~ necessary.

3.4 Quarterlv Declaration. The Respondent shall submit a quarterly

"declaratlon under penalty of perjury stating whether there has been compliance with all '
conditions of the Order. The quarterly declaratlons shall be submltted to the
Commlssron on the first day of the following months September December, March
'and June, unless ordered otherW|se by the Commlssmn

,'3.5 Coleiance with Laws and Rules. The Respondent shall obey all federal,

_state, and local laws and all rules govemlng the practice of medicine and surgery in the

state of Washmgton

3.6 . Fine. The Respondent shall pay an admlnlstrative ﬁnle to the Commlssion
in the amount of $5,000 (five thousand dollars) within 180 days of the entry of the.
effective date of this Order. The paym.ent shall be made payable to the Washington

 State Treasurer and sent to the following address: .

Medical Quality Assurance Commission

P.O..Box 1099
~ Olympia, WA 98507-1099
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3.7  Appearance at Compliance Hearings. The Respondent shall appear

before the Commission six months from the effective date of this Order, or as soon
thereafter as the Commission's schedule permits, and shall present proof that he is
complying with this Order. He shali continue to make such com'plianga' apb_earances
every six months, or as frequently as the Com'miseion otherwise requires, until the
peried of stayed suspension, is terminated by the Commission.\ The Respondent shall
" be given notice of the compliance hearihg, and if he fails to corﬁply with this Order, the
' Colrri‘mission may impose other sanctions as appropriate under RCW 18.130.160 to
| protect the public. Further, after a compliance hearing, the Commission may determine
that the Respondent is in compliance and that he need not‘ personally appear for a six-
month compliance hearing. |

. 38 @-st_s The Respondent shall be responsible and shall pay for any and all
costs involved in his cempliance with any and all conditions in thie Order.

3.9 Responsibility for Providing Current Address. The Respondent shall

ensure that the Commission has his current practice and residence addresses and
telephone numbers. The Respondent shall notify the Commission in writing of any

address chang-e within twenty (20) days after the change.

3.10 Placed on Notice. The Respondent is hereby placed on notice that itis

- his responsibility to ensure that all required reports are submitted to the Commission on’

time and in the manner specified in this Order.

" 3.11 Periods of.Out of State Practice.. In the event the Respondent should

leave Washington.Stafe to practice or reside outside the state, the Respondent shall
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notify the Commission, in writing, of the date of departure and return. Periods of
- residency or practice outside Washington State will not apply to the reduction of this
five (5) year period of suspension.

3.12 Modification of Order. Except as provided above, the Respondent may

petition the Commission for modification of this Order no sooner than five (5) years from
the date this Order is signed. Upon notice duly given by the Commission, the
Respondent shall appear personally before the Commission to present evidence in
support of the petition. Evidence in épposition to the petition may alsb be presented for
| the Commission's consideration. The Commission has sole discretion to grant or deny
the Respondent's petition for mod'iﬁcation and haé the authority to impose restn’ctions
and/or conditions on the Respondent's license to practice as long as the Commission’s
jurisdiction over the Respondent, pursuant to this Order, continues.

. 3.13, Termination of this Order. After the Respondent completes the conditions

of the stayed suspension and aﬁer five (5) years from the effective date of this Order, the
Respondent may file a petmon for termmatlon of the stayed suspension and for a license
to practlce medicine and surgery in the state of Washington without restrictions and
condmons. Ata heanng on the petition, the Department may present evidence in
opposmon to be considered by the Commission. After consndenng the petltlon and the
evidence presented, the Commission has the sole discretion to grant or deny the -
Respondent's petition and has the authority to remove or to impose restrictions and/or
conditions on the Respondent's license to pracﬁc‘e as long as the jurisdictibn remains
over the Respondent, pursuant to this Order.
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3.14 . Violation of Order. If the Respondent violates any prdvision of this order,

, the Commission, after giving the Respo‘ndent notice and the opportunity to be heard,
may set aside the stay order and impose the suspension, or may impose any sanction
as it finds appropriate under RCW 18.130.160, or may take emergency action ordering
sumhaw suspension restriction or limitation of the Respondent's practice as authorized
by RCW 18.130.150. |

o 3.15 The charges in this matter that the Re’spondent's conduct violated

RCW 18.130.180(1) and (7) are DISMISSED.

He
Dated _this\g o day of May, 2004.
Medical Quality Assurance Commission
CABELL TENNIS, J.D.
Panel Chair

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY: (Internal trackmg numbers)
Program No. 2001-08-0007

| CLERK’S SUMMARY

Charges = Action
RCW 18.130.180(1) Dismissed
RCW 18.130.180(4) Violated
RCW 18.130.180(7) Dismissed
RCW 18.130.180(16) Violated
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|

NOTICE TO PARTIES

This-order is subject to the reporting requirements of RCW 18.130.1 10, Section
1128E of the Social Security Act, and any other applicable interstate/national reporting
requirements. If adverse action is taken, it must be reported to the Healthcare Integrity
Protection Data Bank.

Either paArt‘y may file a petition for reconsideration. RCW 34.05.461(3);

RCW 34.05.470. The petition must be filed within 10 days of service of this Order with:.

The Adjudicative Clerk Office
P.O. Box 47879
Olympia, WA 98504-7879

and a copy must be sent to:

Medical Quality Assurance Commission
_ PO Box 47866
Olympia, WA 98504-7866

The petition must state the specific grounds upon which reconsideration is requested
and the relief requested. The petition for reconsideration is considered denied 20 days
after the petition is filed if the Adjudicative Clerk Office has not responded to the petition

or served written notice of the date by which action will be taken on the petition.

A petition for judicial review. must be filed and served within 30 days after
service of this order. RCW 34.05.542. The procedures are identified in chapter 34.05
RCW, Part V, Judicial Review and Civil Enforcement. A petition for reconsideration is
not required before seeking judicial review: If a petition for reconsideration is filed,
however, the 30-day period will begin to run upon the resolution of that petition.

'RCW 34.05.470(3).

The order remains in effect even if a petition for reconsideration or petition for
review is filed. “Filing” means actual receipt of the document by the Adjudicative Clerk

- Office. RCW 34.05.010(6). This Order was “served” upon you on the day it was

deposited in the United States mail. RCW 34.05.010(19).
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RCW 18.130.180
‘18.130.180. Unprofessfonal conduct

The following conduct, acts, or conditions constitute unprofessional conduct
for any license holder or applicant under the jurisdiction of this chapter:

(1) The commission of any act involving moral turpitude, dishonesfy, or
corruption relating to the practice of the person's profession, whether the act
constitutes a crime or not. If the act constitutes a crime, conviction in a criminal
proceeding is not a condition precedent to disciplinary action. Upon such a
conviction, however, the judgment and sentence is conclusive evidence at the
ensuing disciplinary hearing of the guilt of the license holder or applicant of the
crime described in the indictment or information, and of the person's violation of

the statute on which it is based. For the purposes of this section, conviction
includes all instances in which a plea of guilty or nolo contendere is the basis for
the conviction and all proceedings in which the sentence has been deferred or
suspended. Nothing in this section abrogates rights guaranteed under chapter
9.96A RCW; '

(2) Misrepresentation or concealment of a material fact in obtaining a license or in-
reinstatement thereof;,

(3) All advertising which is false, fraudulent, or misleading;

(4) Incompetence, negligence, or malpracticé which results in injury to a
patient or which creates an unreasonable risk that a patient may be harmed.

The use of a nontraditional treatment by itself shall not constitute

unprofessional conduct, provided that it does not result in injury to a
patient or create an unreasonable risk that a patient may be harmed;

(5) Suspension, revocation, or restriction of the individual's license to practice any
health care profession by competent authority in any state, federal, or foreign
jurisdiction, a certified copy of the order, stipulation, or agreement being
conclusive evidence of the revocation, suspension, or restriction;

(6) The possession, use, prescription for use, or distribution of controlled |
substances or legend drugs in any way other than for legitimate or therapeutic
purposes, diversion of controlled substances or legend drugs, the violation of any
drug law, or prescribing controlled substances for oneself,

(7) Violation of any state or federal statute or administrative rule regulating the
profession in question, including any statute or rule defining or establishing

standards of patient care or professional conduct or practice;

(8) Failure to cooperate with the disciplining authority by:



(a) Not furnishing any papers or documents;

(b) Not furnishing in writing a full and complete explanation covering the matter
contained in the complaint filed with the disciplining authority;

(c¢) Not responding to subpoenas issued by the disciplining authority, whether or not
the recipient of the subpoena is the accused in the proceeding; or

(d) Not providing reasonable and timely access for authorized representatives of the
disciplining authority seeking to perform practice reviews at facilities utilized by the
license holder;

(9) Failure to comply with an order issued by the disciplining authority or a
stipulation for informal disposition entered into with the disciplining authority;

(10) Aiding or abetting an unlicensed person to practice when a license is required,
(11) Violations of rules established by any health agency;
(12) Practice beyond the scope of practice as defined by law or rule;

(13) Misrepresentation or fraud in any aspect of the conduct of the business or
profession;

(14) Failure to adequately supervise auxiliary staff to the extent that the consumer's -
health or safety is at risk;

(15) Engaging in a profession involving contact with the public while suffering from
a contagious or infectious disease involving serious risk to public health;

(16) Promotion for personal gain of any unnecessary or inefficacious drug,
device, treatment, procedure, or service;

(17) Conviction of any gross misdemeanor or felony relating to the practice of the
person's profession. For the purposes of this subsection, conviction includes all
instances in which a plea of guilty-or nolo contendere is the basis for conviction and
all proceedings in which the sentence has been deferred or suspended. Nothing in
this section abrogates rights guaranteed under chapter 9.96A RCW;

(18) The procuring, or aiding or abetting in procuring, a criminal abortion;

(19) The offering, undertaking, or agreeing to cure or treat disease by a secret
method, procedure, treatment, or medicine, or the treating, operating, or prescribing
for any health condition by a method, means, or procedure which the licensee refuses

to divulge upon demand of the disciplining authority;

. (20) The willful betrayal of a practiﬁoner-patien_t pfivilege as recognized by law;



(21) Violation of chapter 19.68 RCW;

(22) Interference with an investigation or disciplinary proceeding by willful
misrepresentation of facts before the disciplining authority or its authorized
representative, or by the use of threats or harassment against any patient or witness
to prevent them from providing evidence in a disciplinary proceeding or any other
legal action, or by the use of financial inducements to any patient or witness to
prevent or attempt to prevent him or her from providing evidence in a disciplinary
proceeding;

(23) Current misuse of:

(a) Alcohol;

(b) Controlled substances; or

(c) Legend drugs; -

(24) Abuse of a client or patient or sexual contact with a client or patient;

(25) Acceptance of more than a nominal gratuity, hospitality, or subsidy offered by
arepresentative or vendor of medical or health-related products or services intended
for patients, in contemplation of a sale or for use in research publishable in
professional journals, where a conflict of interest is presented, as defined by rules of

the disciplining authority, in consultation with the department, based on recognized
professional ethical standards.



RCW 34.05.452

w34.05.452. Rules of evidence--Cross-examination

(1) Evidence, including hearsay evidence, is admissible if in the judgment of the
presiding officer it is the kind of evidence on which reasonably prudent persons
are accustomed to rely in the conduct of their affairs. The presiding officer shall
exclude evidence that is excludable on constitutional or statutory grounds or on
the basis of evidentiary privilege recognized in the courts of this state. The
presiding officer may exclude evidence that is irrelevant, immaterial, or unduly
repetitious. '

(2) If not inconsistent with subsection (1) of this section, the presiding officer
shall refer to the Washington Rules of Evidence as guidelines for evidentiary

rulings.
(3) All testimony of parties and witnesses shall be made under oath or affirmation.

@) Documentéry evidence may be received in the form of copies or éxcerpts, or

* by incorporation by reference.

(5) Official notice may be taken of (a) any judicially cognizable facts, (b)
technical or scientific facts within the agency's specialized knowledge, and (c)
codes or standards that have been adopted by an agency of the United States,
of this state or of another state, or by a nationally recognized organization or
association. Parties shall be notified either before or during hearing, or by
reference in preliminary reports or otherwise, of the material so noticed and
the sources thereof, including any staff memoranda and data, and they shall
be afforded an opportunity to contest the facts and material so noticed. A
party proposing that official notice be taken may be requir‘ed.to produce a

copy of the material to be noticed.



“RCW 34.05.461

=34.,05.461. Entry of orders

(1) Except as provided in subsection (2) of this section:

(a) If the presiding officer is the agency head or one or more members
of the agency head, the presiding officer may enter an initial order if
further review is available within the agency, or a final order if
further review is not available;

(b) If the presiding officer is a person designated by the agency to
make the final decision and enter the final order, the presiding officer
shall enter a final order; and

(c) If the presiding officer is one or more administrative law judges,
the presiding officer shall enter an initial order.

(2) With respect to agencies exempt from chapter 34.12 RCW or an
institution of higher education, the presiding officer shall transmit a
full and complete record of the proceedings, including such '
comments upon demeanor of witnesses as the presiding officer deems
~ relevant, to each agency official who is to enter a final or initial order
after considering the record and evidence so transmitted.

* (3) Initial and final orders shall include a statement of findings and
conclusions, and the reasons and basis therefor, on all the material
issues of fact, law, or discretion presented on the record, including the
remedy or sanction and, if applicable, the action taken on a petition
for a stay of effectiveness. Any findings based substantially on
credibility of evidence or demeanor of witnesses shall be so
identified. Findings set forth in language that is essentially a
repetition or paraphrase of the relevant provision of law shall be
accompanied by a concise and explicit statement of the underlying
evidence of record to support the findings. The order shall also
include a statement of the available procedures and time limits for
seeking reconsideration or other administrative relief. An initial order
shall include a statement of any circumstances under which the initial
order, without further notice, may become a final order.



(4) Findings of fact shall be based exclusively on the evidence of
record in the adjudicative proceeding and on matters officially
noticed in that proceeding. Findings shall be based on the kind of
evidence on which reasonably prudent persons are accustomed to rely
in the conduct of their affairs. Findings may be based on such
evidence even if it would be.inadmissible in a civil trial. However, the
presiding officer shall not base a finding exclusively on such
inadmissible evidence unless the presiding officer determines that

- doing so would not unduly abridge the parties' opportunities to
confront witnesses and rebut evidence. The basis for this
determination shall appear in the order.

(5) Where it bears on the issues presented, the agency's experience,
technical competency, and specialized knowledge may be used in the
evaluation of evidence.

(6) If a person serving or designated to serve as presiding officer
becomes unavailable for any reason before entry of the order, a
substitute presiding officer shall be appointed as provided in RCW
34.05.425. The substitute presiding officer shall use any existing
record and may conduct any further proceedings appropriate in the
interests of justice.

(7) The presiding officer may allow the parties a designated time after
conclusion of the hearing for the submission of memos, briefs, or
proposed findings. '

(8)(a) Except as otherwise provided in (b) of this subsection, initial or
final orders shall be served in writing within ninety days after
conclusion of the hearing or after submission of memos, briefs, or
proposed findings in accordance with subsection (7) of this section
unless this period is waived or extended for good cause shown.

(b) This subsection does not apply to the final order of the shorelines
hearings board on appeal under RCW 90.58.180(3).

(9) The presiding officer shall cause copies of the order to be served
on each party and the agency. '



RCW 18.120.010

=18.120.010. Purpose--Criteria (Effective until January 1, 2006)

(1) The purpose of this chapter is to establish guidelines for the regulation of )
health professions not licensed or regulated prior to July 24, 1983, and those

. licensed or regulated health professions which seek to substantially increase
their scope of practice: PROVIDED, That the provisions of this chapter are not
intended and shall not be construed to: (a) Apply to any regulatory entity created
prior to July 24, 1983, except as provided in this chapter; (b) affect the powers
and responsibilities of the superintendent of public instruction or state board of
education under RCW 28A.305.130 and 28A.410.010; (¢) apply to or interfere in
any way with the practice of religion or to any kind of treatment by prayer; and (d)
apply to any remedial or technical amendments to any statutes which licensed or
regulated activity before July 24, 1983. The legislature believes that all
individuals should be permitted to enter into a health profession unless there
is an overwhelming need for the state to protect the interests of the public by
restricting entry into the profession. Where such a need is identified, the
regulation adopted by the state should be set at the least restrictive level
consistent with the public interest to be protected.

(2) It is the intent of this chapter that no regulation shall, after July 24, 1983, be
imposed upon any health profession except for the exclusive purpose of protecting
the public interest. All bills introduced in the legislature to regulate a health
profession for the first time should be reviewed according to the following
criteria. A health profession should be regulated by the state only when:

(2) Unregulated practice can clearly harm or endanger the health, safety, or
welfare of the public, and the potential for the harm is easily
recognizable and not remote or dependent upon tenuous
argument |

-(b) The public needs and can reasonably be expected to beneﬁt from an assurance
of initial and continuing professional ability; and

(c) The public cannot be effectively protected by other means in a more
cost-beneficial manner.

(3) After evaluating the criteria in subsection (2) of this section and considering
governmental and societal costs and benefits, if the legislature finds that it is
necessary to regulate a health profession not previously regulated by law, the least
restrictive alternative method of regulation should be implemented, consistent

- with the public interest and this section:



(a) Where existing common law and statutory civil actions and criminal
prohibitions are not sufficient to eradicate existing harm, the regulation should
provide for stricter civil actions and criminal prosecutions;

(b) Where a service is being performed for individuals involving a hazard to the
public health, safety, or welfare, the regulation should impose inspection
requirements and enable an appropriate state agency to enforce violations by
injunctive relief in court, including, but not limited to, regulation of the business
activity providing the service rather than the employees of the business;

(c) Where the threat to the public health, safety, or economic well-being is
relatively small as a result of the operation of the health profession, the regulation
should implement a system of registration;

(d) Where the consumér'may have a substantial basis for relying on the services of
a practitioner, the regulation should implement a system of certification; or

(¢) Where apparent that adequate regulation cannot be achieved by means other
than licensing, the regulation should implement a system of licensing.
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STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL AUTHORITIES '

Pursuant to RAP 10.8, which permits the parties to state additional
authorities without argument, Petitioner célls the Court’s attention to the
cases cited below. The relevaﬁt language of those authorities is set forth
| thereafter. |

ISSUES

Whether the use of modalities that are not popular with
conventional physicians are by virtue of that fact “unprofessional” and/or

N

instances of negligence.

State v. McDonagh, 123 S.W.3d 146, 159 (Mo. 2003)

Id at 164-165 (Wolfe, J. concurring and dissenting)
Whether actual harm or serious danger of serious harm is required
before use of unconventional modalities can be found to be negligence.

State v. McDonagh, 123 S.W.3d 146, 164 (Mo. 2003) (Wolfe, J.

concurring and dissenting)

Id at 164-165

Whether‘the use of unconventional modalities can constitute
negligence in the absence of substantial scientific eyidence that the
modality is ineffective.

Kirschner v. Mills, 711 NYS2d 65, 69,274 A.D. 786, 791 (2000)‘




LANGUAGE TO WHICH PETITIONER REFERS

State v. McDonagh, 123 S.W.3d 146, 159 (Mo. 2003):

Application of this standard does not merely require a
determination of what treatment is most popular. Were that the
only determinant of skill and learning, any physician who used a
medicine for off-label purposes, or who pursued unconventional

. courses of treatment, could be found to have engaged in repeated
negligence and be subject to discipline. . . .

Rather the statute requires only what it says--that Dr. McDonagh
use that degree of skill and learning used by members of the
profession in similar circumstances. By analogy, one doctor may
use medicine to treat heart problems while another might chose to
perform a by-pass and a third to perform angioplasty, yet all three-
may be applying theiequisite degree of skill and learning. That
they came to differing conclusions by applying that skill and
learning does not make one negligent and one non-negligent.

So too, here, if Dr. McDonagh's treatment, including his use of
a diet and exercise regimen, and the lack of evidence of harm from
his approach, demonstrates the application of the degree of skill
and learning ordinarily used by members of his profession, then it
1s not a basis for discipline under the statute, even if other doctors
~ would apply these facts to reach a different result.

State v. McDonagh, 123 S.W.3d 146, 164-165 (Mo. 2003)
(Wolfe concurring and dissenting):.

So is this off-label use of chelation therapy n'eglig'enoe?v The
real question-- the answer to which is fatal to the board's
position--is whether acts of negligence, as defined by this statute,

can be cause for discipline-ifthere is no showing that the
physician's conduct "is or might be harmful or dangerous." If there
is no harm or danger, there is no cause for discipline under this
section. Section 334.100.2(5) is a catchall provision; read in the

2



context of the entire statute, it does not make negligent acts
actionable unless there is harm or danger. [footnote omitted] This
subdivision cannot be read to make acts subject to discipline where
there is no prospect of harm. . . . . |

Physiéians are afforded considerable leeway in the use of
professional judgment to decide on appropriate treatments,
especially when applying the negligence standard. For instance,
Haase v. Garfinkel, 418 S.W.2d 108, 114 (M0.1967), a medical
negligence case, holds that "as long as there is room for an honest
difference of opinion among competent physicians, a physician
who uses his own best judgment cannot be convicted of
negligence, even though it may afterward develop that he was
mistaken." "Negligence" does not seem an appropriate concept
where the physician has studied the problem and has made a
treatment recommendation, even though that is not the prevailing
view of the majority of the profession. The lack of general
acceptance of a treatment does not *165 necessarily constitute a
breach of the standard of care. The use of negligence in licensing
situations, in the absence of harm or danger, is particularly
inappropriate. ‘

One could argue that because chelation therapy is not accepted
by mainstream medicine and is an off-label practice not approved
by the FDA, it is therefore harmful and dangerous. If that were the
board's position, the licensing statute would thwart advances in
medical science. A dramatic example is the treatment of stomach
ulcers, which were Jong thought to be caused by stress. In 1982,
two Australians found the bacterium helicobacter pylori in the
stomach linings of ulcer victims. Because helicobacter pylori is a
bacterium, some physicians--a minority to be sure--began
prescribing antibiotics to treat stomach ulcers as an infectious
disease. The National Institutes of Health did not recognize
antibiotic therapy until 1994; the FDA approved the first antibiotic
for use in treating stomach ulcers in 1996; and the Centers for



Disease Control began publicizing the treatment in 1997. Today's
physicians accept as fact that most stomach ulcers are primarily
caused by helicobacter pylori bacteria infection and not by stress.
[footnote omitted] But, by the chronology of this discovery, if a
physician in the late 1980s or early 1990s had treated ulcers with
antibiotics, that treatment would have been "negligent" as the
board in this case interprets that term because inappropriate use of
antibiotics can be dangerous.

Kirschner v. Mills, 711 NYS2d 65, 69, 274 A.D. 786, 791 (2000)
(emphasis added).

The record also reflects sharp disagreement of the parties’
experts as to the professional competence of each of petitioner’s
opinions. We find that such dichotomy of opinion, in the context
of this case, establishes the existence of a bona fide dispute or
controversy within the profession unresolved by the proof in this
record. In the absence of substantial proof that petitioner’s
statements of opinion are without sound scientific basis . . . . this
court rejects respondent’s determinations of guilt. . . . '

Respectfully submitted this 24" day of October 2006.
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